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The Honourable Bob Debus, MP 
Minister for the Environment 
Parliament House 
Macquarie Street 
SYDNEY

Dear Minister

I have the pleasure of presenting to you the 2005-06 annual report for the Environmental Trust.

The report has been prepared in accordance with the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and the Annual 
Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984.

The 2005-06 financial year has been a significant year of change for the Trust with new responsibilities and 
programs commencing under new objects of the Environmental Trust Act 1998. 

The Trust in this year continued to fund its strategic and traditional grants programs, and has for the first 
time funded: programs promoting waste avoidance, resource recovery and waste management; lead 
environmental community groups; and the purchase of water entitlements for the purpose of restoring 
and rehabilitating major wetlands. We also put in place the foundations for future new programs on urban 
sustainability, marine parks and native vegetation assistance.

The Trust spent a record $32 million on new initiatives to community groups, schools, Aboriginal 
organisations, local government and state agencies.

This outstanding year has signified the start of the Trust’s greatly expanded range of programs, with 2006-07 
likely to be another extraordinary year.

Yours sincerely 
 

LISA	CORBYN	
Secretary,	Environmental	Trust 
October 2006
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About the Environmental Trust

The Environmental Trust is an independent statutory body, 
established by the NSW Government, which supports 
exceptional environmental projects that do not receive funds 
from other government sources. In order to do this, the Trust 
receives an annual appropriation from the NSW Government; 
in 2005–06 this sum was around $17 million dollars. This 
year, as a result of the abolition of the Waste Fund, the Trust 
also received an additional $18 million to fund its waste 
programs and associated costs.

The Trust is empowered under the Environmental Trust 
Act 1998. This Act originally listed four objects. However, 
following amendments in 2005, these four objects were 
increased to eight (also see ‘Changes to the Trust’, page 3). 
The Trust’s eight objects are:

 1  To encourage and support restoration and rehabilitation 
projects in both the public and the private sectors that 
will or are likely to prevent or reduce pollution, the 
waste stream or environmental degradation, of any kind, 
within any part of NSW.

2  To promote research in both the public and private 
sectors into environmental problems of any kind and, in 
particular, to encourage and support: 

  −  research into and development of local solutions to 
environmental problems

  −  discovery of new methods of operation for NSW 
industries that are less harmful to the environment 

 − research into general environmental problems, and 

 − assessment of environmental degradation.

3  To promote environmental education and, in particular, 
to encourage the development of educational programs 
in both the public and private sectors that will increase 
public awareness of environmental issues of any kind.

4  To fund the acquisition of land for national parks and 
other categories of dedicated and reserved land for the 
national parks estate.

5  To fund the declaration of areas for marine parks and 
related areas.

6  To promote waste avoidance, resource recovery and 
waste management (including funding enforcement and 
regulation and local government programs).

7 To fund environmental community groups.

8  To fund the purchase of water entitlements for the 
purposes of increasing environmental flows for the state’s 
rivers, and restoring or rehabilitating major wetlands.

The Trust also reimburses NSW Treasury for approved forestry 
restructuring payments under the Forestry Restructuring and 
Nature Conservation Act 1995. However, payments under the 
original forestry restructuring program will end in June 2007.

The chair of the Trust is the NSW Minister for the 
Environment. Members of the Trust are the Director-General 
of the Department of Environment and Conservation NSW 
(DEC) and representatives from the Local Government and 
Shires Associations, the Nature Conservation Council of NSW 
and NSW Treasury. The Trust is administered by DEC. (Refer 
to this report’s appendices for details of the members of the 
Trust and for further information on the Trust’s administration.)

Trust administration staff adhere to the employment 
principles and practices of the Department of Environment 
and Conservation NSW. For the purposes of this report, 
all issues of compliance (such as disability plans, NSW 
Government action plan for women, freedom of information, 
occupational health and safety etc.) should be referred to 
DEC’s annual report.



�

NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2005-06

Changes to the Trust

Two important and related events took place in 2005 that 
resulted in the most significant changes in the Trust’s 
recent history. In July the NSW Environmental Trust Act 
1998 was amended to reflect several key changes in NSW 
Government policy priorities. Then, in November, the NSW 
Premier announced the City and Country Environment 
Restoration Program (CCERP), which will see the Trust 
administer a range of new grant programs valued at  
$316.5 million over the next five years. 

In total, these two events resulted in the following changes:

 Amendments to the Forestry Restructuring and 
Nature Conservation Act 1995 saw the Trust become 
responsible not only for the existing forestry 
restructuring payments (Coastal Program) but also for 
the Brigalow–Nandewar industry restructuring and 
development payments. This provides the Trust with  
$41 million over the next five years to reimburse 
Treasury for approved forestry payments. The Trust now 
also administers two additional Brigalow and Nandewar 
related programs, providing grants over five years for a 
$12 million program for white cypress thinning and up to 
$5 million for a Transitional Fund.

 Waste Programs, formerly funded by the now abolished 
Waste Fund, became the responsibility of the Trust.

 The funding of several lead environmental community 
groups was taken over by the Trust.

Several initiatives will be funded through the CCERP:

  −  The Trust will fund the $18.5 million buy-out of 
commercial fishing licences over three years, as part 
of the creation of marine parks in the Manning and 
Batemans Shelf bioregions. 

  −  The purchase of water entitlements for environmental 
flows was created under NSW RiverBank, a five-year, 
$105 million program aimed at saving endangered river 
systems and icon wetlands.

  −  An Urban Sustainability Grants program, worth  
$80 million over five years, for local government to  
work in partnership with business and the community  
to address urban environmental issues.

  −  Additional funding to allow strategic Environmental 
Trust grants for environmental research, restoration, 
education and waste reduction to continue, with  
$76 million over five years.

  −  A Native Vegetation Assistance Package, worth  
$37 million over three years, to help farmers adjust  
to new land clearing laws.

n

n

n
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Highlights of 2005–06

The 2005–06 year was one of enormous change at the 
Trust: new responsibilities were introduced; there was 
a doubling of its objectives; and there was significant 
growth in the value of funds it maintains and distributes. 
Importantly, this year of change was not a ‘one off’; 
rather, the Trust became responsible for funding programs 
with cycles extending several years into the future. (See 
‘Changes to the Trust’ left.)

Fortunately, the Trust has a solid base on which to build 
these changes. Independent reviews of its funding and 
projects were universally positive: the level of stakeholder 
involvement—from business and industry to community 
groups and schools—has grown enormously; and 
Trust funding is held in high esteem by the scientific 
community, often allowing recipients to leverage further 
funds from other agencies. 

Some of the key highlights during this year are listed below.

 Parliament made significant changes to the Trust at 
the end of the 2004–05 financial year. These changes 
enlarged the Trust’s objects and enabled it to fund a 
broader range of environmental programs.

 In July 2005 the Trust took on the funding of Waste 
Programs, formerly funded by the Waste Fund. The Trust 
also took responsibility for funding the implementation 
of forestry restructure and assistance schemes and 
programs in the Brigalow, Nandewar and adjacent 
areas, including business exit assistance, timber worker 
assistance and industry development assistance. These 
decisions effectively doubled the funds under the 
management of the Trust for the 2005–06 year.

 The City and Country Environment Restoration Program 
(CCERP) was announced by Premier Morris Iemma in 
November 2005. The CCERP will provide $316.5 million 
over the next five years from 2006–07. These CCERP 
funds will support a range of new grants programs in 
line with the newly expanded Trust objects.

 The Trust spent a record $32 million on new 
environmental initiatives to community groups, 
schools, Aboriginal organisations, universities, training 
organisations, local government and state agencies.

 The Trust approved a record number of new projects 
and programs. This includes 170 new site-restoration 
projects and 60 new school projects. 

 The Trust made $2 million available for the Council 
Gasworks Remediation Program ($1 million in 2005–06 
and $1 million in 2006–07). This program provided 
funding towards the remediation of former gasworks 
sites by responsible councils. Armidale Dumaresq, 
Shoalhaven and Bathurst councils were successful in 
receiving grants valued at $500,000 each.

n

n

n

n

n

n

 The Trust provided funds to purchase the 997-hectare 
Windermere Station, a property in the under-reserved 
NSW South Western Slopes bioregion. This region has 
been cleared of native vegetation to a greater extent 
than any other bioregion in the state, and contains some 
of the state’s most threatened ecosystems. Windermere 
offers long-term enhancement of the Dananbilla Nature 
Reserve and habitat for the Superb Parrot, Squirrel Glider 
and Diamond Firetail. 

 The ‘Our Environment: It’s a Living Thing’ project 
continued its great success in developing the theme 
as an instantly recognisable brand. ‘It’s a Living Thing’ 
is used throughout government to reflect sustainable 
living, and has worked well at promoting resource and 
biodiversity conservation, business sustainability and 
awareness of hazardous chemicals. 

 This is the first year the Trust has funded projects 
specifically focused on waste reduction and avoidance 
programs. A total of 14 programs, with a budget of 
almost $10 million, addressed issues such as illegal 
dumping, commercial and industrial waste, household 
waste streams, litter enforcement and programs with 
local government. 

 This is the first year the Trust provided funding to 
five non-government lead environmental community 
groups to support their administrative operating costs. 
A new competitive grants program for these grants will 
commence in 2006–07.

 In its second year of operation the Trust’s 
Dissemination Program continued to spread the 
benefits of completed Trust-funded projects to other 
areas and groups. The Trust awarded approximately 
$157,000 to nine projects designed to disseminate the 
results of successful grant projects.

 The Trust funded the purchase of two general security 
water licences, one in the Lachlan Valley of 6,550 unit 
shares and another in the Macquarie Valley of 1,296 unit 
shares, under the new NSW RiverBank program.

 During 2006 the Trust ran 36 workshops across NSW 
to help potential applicants develop high quality 
applications. The workshops focused on the Restoration 
and Rehabilitation, Environmental Education, Protecting 
Our Places and Urban Sustainability Programs and 
attracted 548 participants.

n

n

n

n
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Western NSW ($1,125,000)
Windermere is a property of 997 hectares that adjoins the 
eastern boundary of Dananbilla Nature Reserve along the 
Dananbilla–Illunie Range. It lies in the under-reserved NSW 
South Western Slopes bioregion, an area that has been 
cleared of native vegetation to a greater extent than any other 
bioregion in the state, and contains some of the state’s most 
threatened ecosystems.

Windermere comprises one of only a few substantial 
remnants of white box–yellow box–Blakely’s red gum 
woodland in the South Western Slopes. This vegetation 
type is listed as an endangered ecological community, 
both in NSW and nationally. It is highly threatened because 
it is found in the more arable and relatively fertile soil of 
the lower slopes. As a consequence it has been severely 
reduced in extent and is highly fragmented through past 
agricultural land clearing. 

Importantly, Windermere includes most of the upper 
catchment of Bendick Murrell Creek before it enters the 
existing Dananbilla Nature Reserve and, because of this, 
offers long-term enhancement of reserve values by protecting 
against salinity. It also comprises diminishing habitat for many 
threatened fauna species, such as the Superb Parrot, Squirrel 
Glider and Diamond Firetail. 

The opportunity to acquire property of this size and 
containing such high-quality remnant woodland 
communities is rare in this bioregion. The purchase of 
Windermere, and its future protection within the reserve 
system, was therefore a high priority.

Coastal Wetlands ($476,800)
This was the last year of the Trust’s three-year funding 
program for the purchase of land associated with coastal 
wetlands as part of the national parks estate. The Trust’s 
allocation of $476,800 enabled the purchase of four wetland 
properties for the establishment of a reserve system to 
protect coastal wetlands, including a 157-hectare property 
at Yarrahapinni (north of Kempsey) and 125 hectares of 
Minimbah wetland (west of Forster).

These two purchases made a total of 12 properties acquired 
over the three years, totalling approximately 800 hectares. 
Collectively, these acquisitions have resulted in increased 
protection for important wetlands and improvement to water 
quality, fish stock and waterbird habitat.

Some purchases were supported by complementary action by 
other stakeholders. The purchase of properties near Forster, 
for example, was supported by complementary action by 
Great Lakes Council and the Hunter–Central Rivers Catchment 
Management Authority. Protection of this swampland will reduce 
the impact of acid sulfate soil contamination on the Wallis Lake 
system, thus protecting existing fauna habitat and providing 
future opportunities for the rehabilitation of the swamp. 

Protection of coastal wetlands is a high priority because they 
play an important ecological role in the landscape. Reservation of 
these areas is an important component of comprehensive coastal 
floodplain management.

World Heritage Areas ($1,000,000)
This was the second year of the Trust’s three-year funding 
program for the purchase of land associated with World Heritage 
parks, as part of the national parks estate. The project targets 
the improvement of park and reserve boundaries specifically for 
those parks that lie within the Greater Blue Mountains World 
Heritage Area and the Central Eastern Rainforest Reserves  
World Heritage Area. 

The Trust’s allocation of $1 million enabled the acquisition of  
five properties, including two additions (totalling 473 hectares)  
to the Blue Mountains National Park. Other acquisitions were  
a 157-hectare property for addition to Yengo National Park  
(south-west of Maitland), a 42-hectare property for addition to 
Nattai National Park (south-west of Sydney), and a 158-hectare 
property for addition to Goonengerry National Park (north of 
Lismore). This latter property lies within two identified centres 
of endemism for vascular flora, that of the wet, warm coastal 
lowlands of north-east NSW, as well as the higher altitude area 
assemblages of the Nightcap Ranges.

The purchase and reservation of these lands will strengthen the 
viability of the forests and the biota they support, allowing for 
improved management and ecological viability. 

Land	Acquisition
In 2005–06 the Trust spent nearly $2.6 million acquiring more than  
2,150 hectares for additions to the national parks system.

Windermere - Grassy Box Woodland

Blue Mountains National Park
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Restoration	and	Rehabilitation
The Trust funded new projects to restore 170 sites around NSW, 
including bush regeneration, rehabilitation of riparian zones, restoration 
of Aboriginal sites, remediation of council-owned gasworks sites, 
clean-up of contaminated sites, clean-up of emergency pollution 
incidents, and clean-up of illegal dumping of hazardous materials.

Outcomes achieved
The following are examples of projects completed in 
2005–06. They illustrate the diverse range of small and large 
projects that are funded by the Trust, and which protect and 
restore the environment.

Clean Air Program ($5,125,000)
Beginning in 2001, the Trust funded DEC to conduct the 
Clean Air Program (CAP). Several CAP projects have been 
implemented since that time; the four remaining projects 
being completed in June 2006. 

Stage 2 Vapour Recovery (VR2) Trial 

When petrol is transferred from a fuel tanker to a service 
station’s storage tank (VR1), or from a bowser to a car 
(VR2), the release of petrol vapour can cause elevated 
concentrations of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and 
contribute to ozone (smog) formation. The VR2 Trial was 
initiated to test vapour-recovery equipment and assess 
its cost effectiveness in reducing emissions of VOCs. This 
equipment includes special nozzles, hoses, pipes and vapour 
pumps on petrol bowsers that draw petrol vapour from a 
car’s tank back into the underground storage tank as petrol 
flows from the bowser into the car. 

Two councils (Blacktown and Gosford) participated in the 
trial, installing VR2 equipment at their council depots. The 
trial showed a 95% vapour-recovery rate when vehicles were 
refuelled. The equipment was also well received by users, 
with 90% indicating no or less odour, and 91% agreeing that 
the equipment was easy to use.

Local Government Air Quality Toolkit

The Toolkit will help local government officers increase 
their knowledge, confidence and skill when managing 
air pollution. It consists of three modules (background; 
council’s roles and powers; guidelines for managing a 
number of air-polluting activities) prepared by consultants 
from Macquarie University. The guidelines cover a range of 
pollution types, including construction sites, auto repairers, 
food outlets and intensive agriculture.

The Toolkit was used in a series of training workshops 
held in March and May 2006. Following professional 
editing, it will be made more widely available to councils 
via the DEC website.

Small Engine Project 

The small engines used in lawnmowers, leaf blowers, 
outboard motors, jet skis and the like are high pollution 
emitters relative to their size. They emit up to 4% of the 
smog-causing VOCs found in the air, but there are no 
obligations or standards regulating their emissions.

Stage 1 of the project (2004–05) focused on voluntary 
measures to encourage the supply and purchase of 
less-polluting small engines. It also produced a report 
recommending the creation of a national database for  
two- and four-stroke engines.

As the report’s recommendations had a national focus, the 
second stage was undertaken as a partnership between 
DEC and the Commonwealth’s Department of Environment 
and Heritage (DEH). A working party of DEC, DEH and other 

Ranger filling car using VR2 equipment

Air Quality Toolkit workshop 

�
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interested jurisdictions was established in late 2005, and in 
early 2006 a consultant and independent chair were engaged 
to provide technical advice and facilitate discussions between 
industry and governments. 

By October 2006 a series of environmental benchmarks 
(determining compliance of various small engines) will be 
created, as well as a database which identifies products that 
meet the benchmarks.

Diesel Retrofit Demonstration Project

This project established the feasibility of, and benefits to be 
gained from the implementation of a diesel retrofit program. 
A partnership between DEC and the NSW Roads and Traffic 
Authority (RTA), the project looked at the technical, cost, 
operational and other issues associated with retrofitting 
pollution-reducing devices on the exhausts of diesel vehicles.

The three phases of the project have been completed.  
Phase 1 identified priority target vehicles and retrofit 
technologies (diesel oxidation catalysts and diesel particulate 
filters have been identified as the most suitable devices for 
a retrofit program). Phase 2 assessed the emissions benefit 
provided by retrofitting. Phase 3 of the project was an 
operational trial of the devices, with thirteen fleets involved. 
Devices were fitted to 49 vehicles: 39 catalysts and 10 filters. 
A report outlining the technical, operational and cost issues 
of retrofitting pollution-reducing devices was submitted by 
the RTA in June 2006. The report concluded that catalysts 
and filters are the most practical and effective after-treatment 
devices for reducing emissions from diesel vehicles. The results 
of the demonstration program are informing an expanded 
retrofit program currently being implemented by the RTA.

Acid Sulfate Soils (ASS) Hot 
Spot Remediation Program 
($2,750,000)
Acid sulfate soils (ASS) are soils containing iron sulfides. 
When exposed to air (through drainage or disturbance) these 
soils produce sulfuric acid, often releasing toxic quantities 
of iron and heavy metals into the environment. There are 
approximately 260,000 hectares of high-risk ASS in NSW, of 
which 55,240 hectares have been mapped as ‘hot spots’. 

Remediation of ASS has been a component of the  
whole-of-government strategy for the state since 
2000, when remediation work on ASS began. In 2001, 
the Trust funded the Department of Land and Water 
Conservation (DLWC, now the Department of Natural 
Resources, or DNR) to undertake remedial work 
on seven hot spots. DLWC developed Remediation 
Management Plans for each site. Proposed on-ground 
works were completed for four of these sites, while 
some works were scaled back on the remaining three.

With some funds remaining in 2004, DNR continued to 
undertake water monitoring for a further 12 months. This 
monitoring finished in late July 2005, at which point data 
analysis commenced.

The analysis indicated that a positive change in water 
pH levels had taken place where on-ground works had 
allowed more frequent exchange of tidal water and where 
works had contained acid water to halt its discharge 
into downstream waterways. Lime injection trials also 
indicated an improvement in water pH levels and a 
reduction in total aluminium and iron concentrations in 
surrounding ground water.

The remediation of these seven hot spots would not have 
been possible without the Trust’s support for this program. 
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n  C A S E  S T u Dy

Lion Island Little Penguin Threat 
Abatement

Lion Island Nature Reserve houses a large colony of 
Little Penguins (Eudyptula minor), estimated at about 
300 breeding pairs. A $71,200 Trust grant funded part of 
an ongoing program between the NSW National Parks 
and Wildlife Service and Taronga Zoo to protect the Little 
Penguin and its habitat. The project rehabilitated penguin 
nesting sites from weed infestation. It has protected and 
improved the Lion Island habitat, and this now supports one 
of the most thriving penguin colonies in NSW. Other project 
achievements included restoring the diversity of native plant 
species on the island, monitoring soil stability and surveying 
the surrounding mainland for penguin activity. 

Bush regeneration works were carried out by both 
specialists and volunteers. Volunteers also carried out 
surveys of penguin numbers and found that the population 
appears to be stable.

Careful management of the project and safekeeping of the 
site location details have secured continuing protection 
of this vulnerable environment, and an ongoing plan of 
management will ensure the penguin habitat continues to 
be protected in the future.

Little penguin chick

n  C A S E  S T u Dy

Environmental Restoration and 
Community Advancement Project

The Nari Nari Tribal Council (NNTC) was established in 2000 
to receive land and now preserves Aboriginal cultural sites 
and the sensitive ecosystems of the riverine plains around 
Hay in western NSW. The project was undertaken with a 
grant of $88,500 to revegetate a 250-hectare part of the 
plain. The site had been denuded by previous poor stocking 
practices and prolonged drought, leaving it low in habitat 
value and vulnerable to erosion. 

The project included establishing a propagation nursery, 
as well as carrying out large-scale planting work and 
constructing a boundary fence. The boundary fence was 
built by a contractor who combines his work with the 
training and employment of Aboriginal people. Much of the 
remainder of the work was done by four people from the 
NNTC and the Hay Local Aboriginal Council. Two Elders 
offered advice on cultural matters, and family members 
helped in a variety of ways. The nursery was constructed 
by converting an old hayshed, and now provides a space 
for large-scale propagation to continue indefinitely for future 
revegetation. The team trialled moisture-saving clay seed 
balls to sow the site, with great success. 

This project has been successful in revegetating and 
protecting a large area, and in the process has provided 
training for many community members.

Seed treated prior to growing to increase the germination rate
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Restoring Core Riparian Habitat  
for Key Threatened Species in  
Wagga Wagga

North Wagga Flats is a 34-hectare reserve on the 
Murrumbidgee River, about two kilometres from central 
Wagga Wagga. The site is a refuge for several threatened 
native animal species including the elusive Squirrel Glider. 
With the help of a $63,445 grant this project restored 
native vegetation in the reserve, enhancing its habitat value 
for threatened species. The work included a campaign of 
weeding, sowing, planting, and providing nesting boxes  
for animals. 

Many community volunteers were involved including local 
schools, Charles Sturt University, Wagga Wagga City Council, 
Landcare and the Rural Fire Service. Thousands of native 
trees, shrubs and ground cover grasses have established  
well, and some of the nesting boxes are being used by 
possums and birds. Although there has been no direct 
evidence of Squirrel Glider activity, there have been  
unofficial sightings in the area, and the glider may be 
living undetected in the reserve.

A large number of community volunteers contributed to the 
effort of weeding and revegetating this important habitat 
for threatened species. The group is planning long-term 
maintenance of the site to ensure survival of the native 
grasses and is designing control strategies for the different 
weed species. New guidelines for management of the 
reserve will also be written to ensure the site’s continued 
viability as a wildlife habitat.

Cover of brochure

n  C A S E  S T u Dy

Willow Management within the  
Wollemi Wilderness

A project to eradicate willows along the Colo River was 
carried out by Friends of the Colo, with the help of an $84,695 
grant. This near-pristine river runs through the Wollemi 
Wilderness, and is of enormous significance to the ecological 
integrity of the whole Greater Blue Mountains World Heritage 
Area. After a bushwalker sighted black willows along the river, 
the group embarked on a plan to eradicate these invasive 
weeds and to map possible sources of reinfestation. Early 
intervention was considered vital to prevent an unmanageable 
infestation from developing. 

The group removed 10,800 black willow and 1,180 crack 
willow trees from around 190 kilometres of the river on both 
private and public land, making substantial progress towards 
the eradication of willows. The group also prepared a strategic 
plan to ensure ongoing control of willows and conducted 
a ‘Willow Awareness’ campaign in the local community. 
‘Willow Awareness’ was achieved using a combination of 
communication methods including a fact sheet, print and 
televised media, signs and two websites. 

Colo River Willow Management - access to regions via raft

Regular monitoring programs will continue with 
thorough examination and treatments until there is no 
reinfestation. A core of eight volunteers has formed a 
group called the Willow Warriors which has expanded its 
action into other rivers.

.

��

NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2005-06



Restoration and Rehabilitation 
Major Projects 

The Trust funded two major projects: Stage 2 of the Voluntary 
Conservation and Biodiversity Inventory; and a further two 
years funding for Hot Spots: Implementing Ecologically 
Appropriate Fire Regimes in NSW, but did not run a separate 
major grants program in 2005-06.

Voluntary Conservation and 
Biodiversity Inventory Stage 2 
($350,000)
Following the success of DEC’s initial Voluntary Conservation 
and Biodiversity Inventory (VCBI) program, which 
commenced in late 2003, the Trust provided a further 
$350,000 for Stage 2 to target the South Western Slopes 
and South Eastern Highlands bioregions.

The program supports landholders who own properties 
of high conservation value. These privately owned parcels 
of land present an opportunity to complement the NSW 
reserve system, thereby creating sustainable native 
habitat and wildlife corridors. In recent decades many 
of these landholders have made Voluntary Conservation 
Agreements—statutory commitments under which  
they agree to protect and manage their land. Currently,  
more than 700 such agreements are in place in NSW,  
providing protection for over 1.7 million hectares of  
high-conservation-value land.

The VCBI program supports landholders through property 
visits, monitoring, management advice and ongoing liaison. 
Five key stages of conservation management were covered:

 conducting biodiversity surveys and assessments of 
the land to inform property management planning, and 
to develop an inventory of species, populations and 
communities on private land

updating property management plans with landholders

 providing support for landholders operational activities 
- everything from education to materials and labour

 developing an ongoing monitoring program to assist in 
adaptive conservation management, and

assessing the project’s achievements.

 Landholders have responded positively to the program.  
Many said the information they gained from site visits 
boosted their confidence in managing their properties 
to enhance conservation values, while at the same time 
managing their farms as viable businesses.

 This year, two project officers were employed, both based 
at DEC’s Tumut office, to undertake reviews of agreements 
and visit landholders. A Steering Committee and a Technical 
(Scientific) Reference Group was established, and the 
landholder database fully updated. The project was promoted 
through the statewide newsletter Bush Matters.

n

n

n

n

n

Hot Spots: Implementing 
Ecologically Appropriate Fire 
Regimes in NSW ($1,629,580)
Fire is an essential part of the Australian landscape, but too 
much or too little at the wrong time can have a devastating 
effect. The Hot Spots project works with landholders, 
catchment management authorities (CMAs), the Rural 
Fire Service, the NSW Farmers Association and others to 
integrate ecologically appropriate fire management guidelines 
into property management plans. Careful use of fire as a 
management tool – as opposed to uncontrolled fire – helps 
conserve biodiversity, soil and water.

The Hot Spots project has been highly successful. It began 
in 2004–05 when the Trust funded the World Wide Fund 
for Nature (WWF) to promote appropriate fire regimes. 
In 2005–06, the Nature Conservation Council of NSW 
(NCC) took over the project from WWF. NCC was awarded 
$1,629,580 over two years, bringing the total funds 
committed under the project to over $2 million.

Since receiving the funding NCC has developed a best 
practice model for building regional capacity to address fire 
management issues related to biodiversity conservation. 
This includes the development of a regionally focused 
fire management package in the Northern Rivers region, 
containing education material and a workshop framework.

����
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Updates on 2004–05 Projects
As mentioned above, no new major grants program was 
offered in 2005–06, but several projects funded in 2004–05 
carried through into the reporting year. Updates on those 
projects are listed below.

Reducing and Eradicating 
Invasive Weeds on Lord Howe 
Island ($1,227,911)

Lord Howe Island Board

This project has three aims:

eradication of bitou bush by aerial spraying of cliff areas

 research into the best treatment for tiger lily (carried 
out by the Cooperative Research Centre for Weed 
Management), and

 concentrated effort to reduce the population of cherry 
guava to manageable levels by teams of professional 
bush regenerators and board staff.

Over 34% of the island has been treated for weeds since 
the program began. As of January 2006, a total effort of 
7,500 people-hours resulted in the removal of approximately 
264,000 weeds. The project aims to complete treatment of 
a further 40% of the island in areas of known infestations.

Saving our Corridors: Linear 
Reserves as NSW Environment 
Framework ($904,000)

Department of Natural Resources and the 
Roadside Environment Committee

‘Linear reserves’ include roadsides, rail corridors and stock 
reserves held by public authorities. These linear reserves 
often act as environmental corridors, connecting habitats 
and providing havens for flora and fauna. This project aims 
to create a sustainable network of linear reserves across 
NSW and, working with CMAs, coordinated protection and 
management of biodiversity.

The first stage of the project identified and assessed 
suitable land. The second stage (2005–06) involved 
formally protecting high-conservation-value areas and 
preparing management and monitoring plans to conserve 
the biodiversity and cultural heritage values on identified 
linear reserves.

Snowy River Rehabilitation 
Project ($1,098,105)

Southern Rivers Catchment Management 
Authority

A 186-kilometre stretch of the Snowy River, below 
Jindabyne Dam, was the focus of this rehabilitation project. 
Dense willow growth was brought under control, and 
the river’s banks and margins revegetated. This work will 
establish a foundation for continuous improvement of 
habitat conditions, as environmental flows increase and 
natural fish populations improve.

n

n

n

The project has now completed a survey of native fish in the 
Snowy, Delegate, Jacob and Pinch rivers, published a report 
on the condition and status of fish populations and habitat in 
the Snowy River, and produced a series of posters detailing 
native fish populations.

Advancing Biodiversity 
Conservation on Private Land 
(Central Coast) ($592,670)

Central Coast Community Environment Network

The project’s aims were to reverse the decline in wildlife 
habitat on the Central Coast by protecting and enhancing 
native fauna and flora. As well as traditional ‘bush’ held in 
private hands, it also considered urban landscapes that met 
the project’s aims.

The work took the form of property visits (47 by 
December 2005), resulting in 25 landholders signing up 
to the Land for Wildlife Program. A schedule of field days 
and training opportunities was developed, and these were 
held throughout 2006. Topics were chosen in response 
to landholder needs: basic bush regeneration techniques, 
weed identification and management, and seed collection 
and propagation.

Monitoring of Lead Clean-up 
($200,000)

North Lake Macquarie Environmental  
Health Centre

The Pasminco Cockle Creek Smelter at Boolaroo operated 
for 105 years, eventually closing in 2003. While the site is 
now being rehabilitated, dust from lead that built up on the 
land adjacent to the plant will continue to be released during 
site remediation. 

The Trust provided funding for community monitoring of 
remediation activities, both on-site and in adjacent residential 
areas. The monitoring supports the activities of the 
Environmental Health Centre, which are aimed at reducing 
community exposure to lead.

Community information papers were distributed to 18,000 
homes in the North Lake Macquarie area in late 2005. 
Contact was made with 44 families of newborn babies to 
advise them on health education issues relevant to the area.
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In 2001, the Trust introduced a program to help with the 
remediation of contaminated sites owned by ‘innocent’ 
parties: property owners who have unwittingly found 
themselves responsible for the remediation of serious land 
contamination, either because the polluter cannot be found or 
no longer exists. The program funds only the remediation of 
land posing a significant risk of harm. Projects awarded under 
the program in 2005–06 are listed below, (Table 1).

Table 1

Contaminated Land Innocent Owners Program 
Grants Awarded in 2005–06

Total expenditure for the program in 2005–06 was $559,000. 
Some of the allocated funds were carried over into 2006–07 
because of delays experienced by grant recipients.  
Delays are not uncommon in this area: it can be difficult to 
determine the extent of contamination until investigative 
works have commenced, at which stage it is often 
discovered that the contamination is greater than initially 
determined. Unfortunately, this can lead to extensive delays 
in developing and implementing action plans for remediation.

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Mr P and Mrs B Attwill Remediation of Contaminated Site Coramba Coffs Harbour $�,��0

Mr P and Mrs B Attwill Remediation of Contaminated Site Coramba Coffs Harbour $���,���

Total $341,877

��

 
The operation of gasworks has left a legacy of contamination 
in soil and ground water throughout NSW. Remediation of old 
sites is costly and difficult. Old sites often become derelict 
and, in some cases, contamination poses a significant risk to 
the community’s health and to the environment.

The Trust’s Council Gasworks Remediation Program helps 
councils remediate sites that present a high risk of harm. 
Funds are made available for approximately half of the direct 
cost of the works associated with a remediation action plan, 
where the plan sets out the most cost-effective strategy to 
reduce the risk posed by the contamination. 

A total of $2 million was made available over two years, made 
up of four grants of up to $500,000 each. Applications were 
by invitation only, and four councils were invited to apply. The 
applicants were selected on the basis of three criteria:

 the only sites eligible were those with contamination 
that posed a significant risk to human health or the 
environment

 only the councils responsible for the remediation of the 
site were eligible to apply, and

 those sites representing the highest risk were given 
priority for funding.

Three applications were received, and the Trust awarded 
three grants of $500,000 each to Armidale Dumaresq, 
Shoalhaven and Bathurst councils. Work began on two of the 
sites and is due to commence on the third in 2006–07. The 
total expenditure for the program for 2005–06 was $750,000.

n

n

n

Organisation Title Amount

Armidale Dumaresq Council Remediation of Former Armidale Gasworks Site $�00,000

Shoalhaven City Council Remediation of Former Nowra Gasworks Site $�00,000

Bathurst Regional Council Remediation of Former Bathurst Gasworks Site $�00,000

Total $1,500,000

Table 2

Council Gasworks Remediation Program  
Grants Awarded in 2005–06
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The Trust again offered grants of up to $100,000 in two 
categories: community organisations (total of $1.5 million), 
and local government organisations (total of $1.5 million).  
The objectives of the program are to:

 restore degraded environmental resources, including rare 
and endangered ecosystems

 protect important ecosystems and habitats of rare and 
endangered flora and fauna

 prevent or minimise future environmental damage

 enhance the quality of specific environmental resources, and

 improve the capacity of eligible organisations to project, 
restore and enhance the environment.

 The Trust received 106 applications, of which 59 were 
successful (Table 3 and Table 4 below).

n

n

n

n

n

Table 3

Restoration and Rehabilitation Program  
Grants Awarded in 2005-06

Community Grants Program

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Bankstown Bushland Society Inc. Repair of Cumberland Woodland Ecotones in Lower Prospect Catchment Bankstown $��,�0�

Berridale Rocky Plains Landcare Group Snowy Plains Fire Trail Rehabilitation Program Snowy River $�0,000

Broadwater Dunecare Group Broadwater Beach Dunecare Restoration and Rehabilitation Richmond Valley $��,��0

Bulbararing Bushcare Group Restoration of Bulbararing Reserve, Avoca Beach Gosford $��,���

Cape Byron Headland Reserve Trust Cape Byron Littoral Rainforest Restoration Program Byron $��,�00

Combanning-Dirnaseer Landcare Group Restoration and Rehabilitation of a Rural Landscape Stage � Temora $��,0�0

Community Environment Network Inc Community Rehabilitation of Gosford Coastal Lagoons Gosford $��,��0

Constables Point Bushcare Group Rehabilitation of Kurnell Dune Forest and Coastal Saltmarsh Sutherland $�,�00

Cudgegong Catchment Committee Creating Environmental Capacity within the Cudgegong Mid-Western 
Regional

$��,000

Darook Park Bushcare Group Rehabilitation of Littoral Rainforest at Darook Park - Stage � Sutherland $�0,��0

WetlandCare Australia (Ducks Unlimited 
Australia Ltd)

North Ballina Wetlands Rehabilitation Demonstration Ballina $��,0��

Environmental Training and  
Employment Inc

Boulders Beach Rainforest and Wetland Restoration and Rehabilitation Ballina $�0,��0

Freya Street Bushcare Group Rehabilitation of Swamp Oak Floodplain at Freya St Sutherland $��,��0

Restoration and Rehabilitation 
2005–06 Grant Programs 
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Table 4

Restoration and Rehabilitation Program  
Grants Awarded in 2005-06 

State and Local Government Grants Program

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Ballina Shire Council Lake Ainsworth Aquatic and Terrestrial Vegetation Restoration Ballina $�0,�0�

Coffs Harbour City Council Enhancement and Protection of the Coffs Creek Flying-fox Camp Coffs Harbour $��,�00

Department of Environment and 
Conservation NSW

Restoration of Seabird Habitat, Montague Island Nature Reserve Eurobodalla $�00,000

Great Lakes Council Aquatic Gardens Wetland Rehabilitation Project Great Lakes $�0,000

Hawkesbury City Council Chain of Ponds Reserve Rehabilitation Project Hawkesbury $��,��0

Holroyd City Council Restoration and Preservation of Shale Plains Woodland Corridor Link Holroyd $��,���

Hornsby Shire Council Restoration of Endangered Vegetation with School Communities Hornsby $��,�0�

Lane Cove Municipal Council Moore Street Gully Project Lane Cove $��,��0

Lismore City Council Restoration and Rehabilitation of Lowland Rainforest on the Floodplain Lismore $��,�0�
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Dharug Volunteer Bush 
Regeneration Group

Restoration of Rainforest, Hazel Dell, Gunderman Gosford $�,�0�

Goonengerry Landcare Inc The Byrangery Creek Restoration and Rehabilitation Project Byron $��,0��

Grays Point Reserve Bushcare Group Rehabilitation of Littoral Rainforest at Grays Point Reserve Sutherland $��,��0

Jindabyne East Residents Committee Restore Rushes Ck Gorge, Jindaboine Ck and Connecting Lake Foreshore Snowy River $�0,���

Lilli Pilli Point Reserve Bushcare Group Rehabilitation of Littoral Rainforest at Lilli Pilli Point - Stage � Sutherland $�,��0

Macleay Landcare Network Inc Macleay Coastal Littoral Rainforest and Vegetation Restoration Project Kempsey $��,���

MacMasters Beach and District  
Progress Association

Restoration of Endangered Ecological Communities- Cockle Bay Wetland Gosford $��,000

Manning Landcare Co-ordinators 
Management Committee Inc

Cedar Party Creek Habitat Restoration Greater Taree $��,��0

Marina Crescent Reserve Bushcare Group Rehabilitation of Littoral Rainforest at Marina Crescent Reserve Sutherland $��,��0

Moody’s Bridge Landcare Group Moody’s Bridge Landcare - Cats Claw Creeper Control and Elimination Bellingen $��,��0

Muttama Creek Advisory Committee Muttama Creek Pond and Swampy Meadow Restoration Cootamundra $�0,��0

Nari Nari Tribal Council Regeneration of Nari Nari Country - Stage � Hay $��,��0

National Parks Association of NSW Harbour Keepers Marine Surveys in Sydney Harbour Sydney City $��,���

Parc Menai Bushcare Group Rehabilitation of Sydney Turpentine Ironbark Forest at Parc Menai Sutherland $��,��0

Upper Clarence Combined Landcare Protecting and Rehabilitating Gallery Rainforest along Bean Creek Riparian Kyogle $��,���

Upper Clarence Combined Landcare Rehabilitating Beaury Ck Corridor Linking to Tooloom World Heritage Area Tenterfield $��,�0�

Upper Murrumbidgee Landcare  
Committee Inc

Eradication of Black Willow from �00km Stretch of Murrumbidgee River Cooma-Monaro $��,�00

Wolli Creek Preservation Society Inc Wolli Creek Bush Restoration, Western Section Rockdale $��,���

Citizens Wildlife Corridors Armidale Inc. Restoration of Vegetation Corridors in the Armidale Area Armidale 
Dumaresq

$��,��0

West of Ranges Landcare Inc Riparian Restoration in Three Upper Clarence villages Kyogle $��,��0

Total $1,486,913

Restoration and Rehabilitation Program  
Grants Awarded in 2005-06 continued
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The Protecting Our Places (POP) program was initiated by the 
Trust in 2002 to encourage more Aboriginal people to become 
involved in environmental education and land management. 

Successful projects must demonstrate that they meet either 
or both of POP’s objectives:

 to restore or rehabilitate Aboriginal land or land that is 
culturally significant to Aboriginal people

 to educate Aboriginal and other communities about the 
local environment and the value Aboriginal communities 
place on their natural environment.

This year the Trust offered $500,000 to the program. 
During the application period in early 2005, information 
sessions and workshops were held throughout NSW 
to assist potential grant applicants; 13 grants totalling 
$365,121 were eventually awarded, (Table 5).

Independent Review of the 
Protecting Our Places Program
An independent evaluation of Protecting our Places was 
undertaken in late 2005. The report’s authors (Geolink, 
Environment Management and Design) found that POP 
has been highly successful in encouraging Aboriginal 
involvement in Trust projects, and that it has enhanced 
awareness of the value Aboriginal people place on their 

n

n

natural environment. The program’s ‘most powerful 
legacy’ was the sense of connection, success and 
achievement participants felt, encouraging them to take 
on other projects and seek further funding.

As a result of the evaluation the Trust has agreed to make 
Protecting Our Places a permanent program to be offered 
annually, and has agreed to make the Aboriginal Liaison and 
Support Officer’s position permanent.

Students learning about bushtucker

Narrandera Shire Council Erosion Control and Weed Management at Lake Talbot, Narrandera Narrandera $�0,��0

North Ridge Reserve Committee Rehabilitation of a Small Eroded Gully Cooma-Monaro $�,��0

Orange City Council Gosling Creek Riparian and Immediate Catchment Restoration Orange $��,��0

Pittwater Council Wetland Restoration in Warriewood Wetland and Irrawong Reserve Pittwater $��,���

Pittwater Council Coastal Shale Health and Littoral Rainforest Regeneration Project Pittwater $��,��0

Randwick City Council Restoration and Protection of Trenerry Reserve Wetland Randwick $��,���

Shoalhaven City Council Restore and Extend Habitat for �� Vulnerable Species/Communities Shoalhaven $��,0�0

Tweed Shire Council Tweed Floodgate Modification Project Tweed $�00,000

Wagga Wagga City Council Restoration and Revegetation of Lake Albert Foreshores Wagga Wagga $��,000

Wollondilly Shire Council Kennedy Creek Rehabilitation and Share Pathway Project Wollondilly $��,000

Wollongong City Council Riparian Regeneration and Replanting at Hargraves Creek, Stanwell Park Wollongong $��,�00

Wollongong City Council Puckey’s Estate Threatened Vegetation Restoration Project Wollongong $��,��0

Baulkham Hills Shire Council Privet out of Cattai Baulkham Hills $��,000

Hunter Central Rivers Catchment 
Management Authority

Lambton Ker-rai Rehabilitation Project Newcastle City $�00,000

Hunters Hill Council Park Rd Reserve - Woodland to Salt Marsh Restoration Project Hunters Hill $��,���

Broken Hill Rural Lands Protection Board Mesquite Control in the Unincorporated Area of the Western Division Unincorp. Far west $��,���

Ku-ring-gai Council Creekline Restoration Ku-ring-gai $��,��0

Total $1,891,965

Restoration and Rehabilitation Program  
Grants Awarded in 2005-06 continued

Protecting our Places Program 
for Aboriginal Organisations
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Table 5

Protecting Our Places Program  
Grants Awarded in 2005-06

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Albury/Wodonga Aboriginal 
Corporation

Restoration of Mungabateena Albury $��,���

Baryulgil Land Council Baryugil Square Creek Restoration Clarence Valley $��,��0

Batemans Bay Local Aboriginal  
Land Council

Shelley Beach – Nundera Point Midden Rehabilitation Project Shoalhaven $��,��0

Burrun Dalai OOHC and ESS Yearning to Learn Kempsey $��,�00

Cooramah Housing and Aboriginal 
Enterprise Corp

Ngoorabul Bush Tucker Nature Walk Glen innes $��,���

Jali Local Aboriginal Land Council Ecological Restoration and Project Management Training and Delivery Ballina $��,000

Jarara Indigenous Education Unit A Meeting Place – Bush Tucker Garden at Caroline Chisholm College Penrith $�0,���

Koompahtoo Local Aboriginal Land 
Council

Aboriginal Caring for Country Techniques Stage � Lake Macquarie $��,000

Leeton Local Aboriginal Land Council Aboriginal People – Caring for Wiradjuri Country Leeton $��,���

Little Burning Mountain  
Aboriginal Corporation

Ngangadha Garragu Bilaglanggu. Look After the Land and the River Parkes $�0,000

Miimi Mothers Aboriginal Corporation ‘Guurulawgu Gamambi’ Nambucca $��,000

Wiradjuri Wellington Aboriginal Town 
Common Committee

Wellington Town Common Regeneration and Restoration Project Wellington $��,0��

Wirrimbah Direct Descendents 
Aboriginal Corporation

Protection and Rehabilitation of Terramungamine Reserve Dubbo $��,�00

Total $365,121

n  C A S E  S T u Dy

Nahantu Karra Kara Goonoowigall Bush 
Tucker and Cultural Project

The Inverell Reconciliation Group carried out this project 
inspired by the reminiscences of some of its Aboriginal 
members about early community life on the outskirts of 
Inverell. With a Trust grant of $18,000 and generous support 
from the Inverell Shire Council, the group rehabilitated the 
settlement area of the Goonoowigall Bushland Reserve. They 
created an educational walking track linking old residential 
sites and incorporating bush tucker stories and cultural 
information to capture the richness of the community history 
and to ensure native vegetation is maintained and enhanced. 

With the help of Aboriginal workers from an employment 
scheme, the team removed a huge accumulation of dumped 
rubbish from the site, cleared a path for the track and 
constructed signs to explain cultural or natural features.  
Thirty informative signs and a large information board have 
been installed throughout the site. 

Sample sign that was installed on the site

The walking track and rehabilitated site was launched in 
a ceremony attended by over 120 people. The project has 
vastly improved the natural value of the reserve as an 
educational resource, a tourist attraction and a meeting  
place for Aboriginal groups. In addition, it has ensured that  
a valuable piece of Aboriginal history will be preserved.



Emergency Pollution  
Clean-up Program
The Environmental Trust funds the Emergency Pollution 
Clean-up Program. Under this program, nominated officers 
of DEC have delegated authority to approve funds for the 
cleaning up of pollution in emergencies where no other 
sources of funds are available.

The funds can also be used, in certain circumstances, for the 
management of incidents involving orphan waste materials. 

The Trust does not pay for such work where it can identify a 
person or organisation responsible for, or required to clean 
up the pollution.

The Environmental Trust Act 1998 stipulates that the 
maximum amount that the Trust can spend on this program 
in any one financial year is $0.5 million.
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Table 6

Emergency Pollution Clean-up Payments 2005-06

Organisation Incident Date of 
incident

Amount

Baulkham Hills Shire Council Removal of unknown liquid substance from Norwest Lake,  
Baulkham Hills

� Jun �00� $�,���.�0

Blacktown City Council Asbestos dumped at Garling Road, Kings Park �� Mar �00� $��0.00

Blacktown City Council Collection and disposal of asbestos dumped at  
Clyde Street, Riverstone

�� Mar �00� $��0.00

Blacktown City Council Collection and disposal of Asbestos at William Street, Riverstone �� Mar �00� $�,��0.00

Blacktown City Council Asbestos dumped at � sites: Aquilina Reserve, Rooty Hill and 
Doonside Crescent, Doonside

�� Apr �00� $�,��0.00

Blacktown City Council Testing and removal of asbestos at � sites: Railway Terrace, 
Schofields; Perth Street, Riverstone and Princess Street, Riverstone

�� Feb 0� &  
�� Feb 0�

$�,��0.00

Blacktown City Council Asbestos Dumped at Creek Street, Riverstone � Mar �00� $��0.00

Blacktown city Council Asbestos sheeting dumped at Galea Drive Glenwood � Jun �00� $��0.00

Blacktown City Council Asbestos clean up at Anvill Road, Seven Hills �� Jun �00� $���.00

Blacktown City Council Asbestos clean up at Plumpton Road, Glendenning � Aug �00� $���.00

Blacktown City Council Asbestos clean up at Victoria Road, Riverstone � Sep �00� $�0�.00

Blacktown City Council Asbestos clean up at Reen Road, Prospect �� Jan �00� $�,0�0.00

Blacktown City Council Clean up of pollution incident at Caddies Creek, Glenwood �� Oct �00� $�,0�0.�0

Blacktown City Council Asbestos clean up at Yullock Place, Prospect � Dec �00� $��0.00

Blacktown City Council Asbestos clean up at Reen Road, Prospect � Mar �00� $��0.00

Blacktown City Council Asbestos clean up at Plumpton Rd, Glendenning �� Apr �00� $��0.00

Braidwood Rural Lands Protection 
Board

� x drums of unknown chemicals dumped on a travelling  
stock reserve at Reedy Creek

Unknown $�,��0.00

Campbelltown City Council �000 litre paint spill clean up at Akina Ave, Bradley �� Nov �00� $�,���.��

Collex Pty Ltd Orphan waste dumped at Hutchinson Street, Granville �� Jul �00� $���.00

DEC, Parks and Wildlife Division Asbestos sheeting found in Corramy State Recreational Area � Mar �00� $�,000.00

DEC, Parks and Wildlife Division Removal of asbestos at Ridge Road, Oakdale � Apr �00� $�,�00.00

DEC, Parks and Wildlife Division Removal of asbestos in Budderoo National Park � Apr �00� $�,�0�.��

DEC, Parks and Wildlife Division Testing and Removal of dumped asbestos at Thirlmere Lakes 
National Park near Bonds Road.

� Feb �00� $�,�0�.��
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Fairfield City Council �0 drums, possible lead base paints, rusting through at  
Lisbon Street, Fairfield East

� Aug �00� $�,���.��

Fairfield City Council Asbestos analysis and clean up, Yennora �0 Jan �00� $���.��

Fairfield City Council Cooking oil spill at Orphan Creek, Canley Vale � Mar �00� $�,���.�0

Hawkesbury City Council Asbestos dumped at Grono Farm Road, Ebenezer �� Apr �00� $�,���.00

Hawkesbury City Council Asbestos spillage along West Portland Road, Bull Ridge Road and 
Packer Road, Lower Portland and Blaxland Ridge

�� May �00� $��,���.00

Hawkesbury City Council Asbestos dumped at Dormitory Hill Road, Oakville � Jul �00� $�,��0.00

Hawkesbury City Council Removal and disposal of asbestos from Racecourse Road, Clarendon � Jun �00� $�,���.�0

Hawkesbury City Council Removal and disposal of asbestos from Commercial Road, Vineyard � Nov �00� $�,���.�0

Hawkesbury City Council Asbestos removal – Singleton Road Wilberprie, Stannix Park Road, 
Wilberprie and Cuppitts Lane, Richmond

� July �00� $�,���.00

Hawkesbury City Council Testing, removal and disposal of asbestos waste from  
Chapman Road, Oakville

� Oct �00� $�,000.00

Hawkesbury City Council Loose asbestos clean up at Lower Portland �� May �00� $�,���.00

Hawkesbury City Council Asbestos sheet clean up at Packer Road, East Kurrajong �� May �00� $�,���.00

Kyogle Council Clean up of drum spill ��km north of Kyogle � Feb �00� $�,0��.��

Lane Cove Council Asbestos dumped at Linley Point, Lane Cove �� May �00� $�,���.00

NSW Police Lavacide poisoning – toxic waste clean up Berridale �� Oct �00� $��0.�0

Phil Walsh Demolition Pty Ltd Illegal dumping of material including asbestos, in Woodford  
North State Forest

�� Aug �00� $�,�00.00

Ryde City Council Illegal dumping of building waste including asbestos at Anzac 
Avenue, West Ryde

� Mar �00� $��0.00

Ryde City Council Asbestos dumped at Christie Park Sport Complex, Ryde � May �00� $�,��0.00

Strathfield City Council Testing and removal of asbestos dumped at Naughton  
Street, Greenacre

�� Feb �00� $��0.00

Strathfield City Council Testing and removal of asbestos dumped at Madeline  
Street, Strathfield

� Apr �00� $��0.00

Strathfield City Council Testing and removal of asbestos dumped at Pilcher Street, Strathfield �� Jun �00� $��0.00

Strathfield City Council Testing and removal of asbestos dumped at Cleveland  
Street, Strathfield

� May �00� $�,���.00

Strathfield City Council Testing and removal of asbestos at Madeline Street, Strathfield �� May �00� $�,��0.00

Strathfield City Council Sampling and removal of asbestos from opposite of Cooke Park 
– Madeline Street, Strathfield and Corner Madeline and Cleveland 
Street, Strathfield

�� Jun �00� $�,��0.�0

Strathfield City Council Asbestos testing and clean up at Homebush � Dec �00� $�00.00

Transpacific Tech Services �0 litre Mercury spill clean up from Brukner Road, Broadmeadow �� Jul �00� $���.��

Willoughby Council Emergency pump out of oil spill in Sugar Loaf Creek, Butts Park �� Feb �00� $�,���.�0

Wollondilly Shire Council Large amount of asbestos dumped in bushland near public area at 
Yallah Street, Belimba Park

� Nov �00� $��,�00.00

Wollondilly Shire Council Asbestos clean up at Silverdale �� Nov �00� $�,��0.00

Total $128,264.73

��
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Outcomes Achieved
The case studies below detail four projects completed in 2005–06.

Environmental	Education
Education about the environment, conservation and natural 
resource management is a cornerstone of the Trust’s objectives. 
Grants are provided to community organisations, councils, 
government agencies and training providers in a wide range of 
effective projects and programs.

n  C A S E  S T u Dy

Biodiversity Education for a Diverse 
Community
This program, funded by a grant of $47,912, educated 
members of the Arabic, Vietnamese and Chinese speaking 
communities of Bankstown about the benefits that native 
plants and animals bring to the urban environment. It showed 
residents how to encourage wildlife to their gardens by 
creating native plant habitats.

A series of ‘Backyard Buddies’ brochures previously 
produced by DEC were re-released with Arabic, Vietnamese 
and Chinese translations. The brochures were structured to 
stress the benefits of having native animals in the garden, 
and to help dispel any inherent fears of these animals. Group 
activities included workshops, ecotours to a native nursery 
and animal displays. During these activities, residents were 
able to plant seedlings and handle native animals, which 
many had never done before. An evaluation of this program 
was conducted via written surveys and face-to-face focus 
groups and it was assessed as being a huge success, 
enabling community members to understand the importance 

of native plants and animals and learn more about the 
environment. The program reached hundreds of community 
members, with many showing interest in future activities.

Arabic brochure

n  C A S E  S T u Dy

Challenging Barriers to Sustainability 
Practice in the NSW Caravan and 
Camping Industry
With the help of a $60,589 Environmental Trust grant, the 
NSW Caravan and Camping Industry Association carried out 
a project to develop an educational resource for its members. 
The aim of this resource was to encourage members to 
join the Association’s sustainability improvement program, 
the Gumnut Awards, and to demonstrate easily achievable 
environmental practices with a series of case studies. A 
series of 15 electronic case studies have become a resource 
for the industry, encouraging park owners to join the scheme. 
The case studies show practical examples of how park 
owners can improve their businesses in sustainable ways.  
As a result of this project, the proportion of parks participating 
in the Gumnut program has increased from 30% to 48%.

The Gumnut program encourages park managers to assess 
their parks on ten areas of operation—for example water 
use, biodiversity and landscape—and then identify a series 

of changes that can be implemented to improve the park’s 
performance, particularly in regard to sustainability.

The research found three main barriers to participation 
in the scheme: lack of understanding about the Gumnut 
concept, a perceived lack of time and the idea that 
participation would not help business. 

Sustainable camping practices encouraging local fauna

����
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Sea Change: Manly Sustainable Tourism
Sea Change for Sustainable Tourism is an innovative business 
education program which aims to improve the environmental 
stewardship of local tourism operators. Manly Council, with 
a grant of $67,130, set out to develop a program that would 
lead to a positive balance between tourism, the environment 
and amenity for local residents. With an estimated six million 
visitors to Manly annually this program has made a difference 
to the environment. Through the program Manly Council has 
fostered a high standard of environmental stewardship and 
sustainable practice within the local tourism business sector.

The program helps businesses to identify financial  
savings and opportunities for increased efficiency while 
strengthening their environmental and social performance. 
Participants are taken through five steps and at each step 
they are awarded with accreditation. The ultimate step 
is a fully developed environmental management plan for 
each business that guides its operations. During the initial 
12 month pilot phase of the program 27 local tourism 
businesses were involved. This pilot phase was so successful 
that Manly Council has chosen to continue the program 
through its own budget allocations.

Manly sustainable tourism

��
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Environmental Learning for Four Wheel 
Drivers in Outback NSW
This project granted $27,628 to the Dubbo Four Wheel Drive 
Club Inc who set out to not only train members of their club 
but to also build the capacity of members to be ambassadors 
for environmentally sensitive travel and camping. The Club is 
very aware of the damage to the environment that improper 
four wheel driving and camping can create. The club worked 
with TAFE Western Institute to increase their knowledge of 
the need to be environmentally aware when undertaking four 
wheel driving activities in the NSW outback.

The project involved the development of a Glovebox Guide 
for Outback Travel and development of two four wheel drive 
trips where environmental subjects were taught in ‘real life’. 
The teaching and learning about the environment and how to 
protect it was conducted using a range of people from TAFE, 
National Parks and Wildlife, Rural Fires Service and the local 
indigenous community to name a few. The training covered 
subjects such as flora and fauna identification, aboriginal 
site assessment, environmental work practices, sustainable 
camping, campsite selection and being prepared for a trip 
in the outback. The booklet produced to educate travellers 
in the outback is being distributed through local 4WD 
dealerships. The project was very successful and with some 
adaptations the club believe this can be taken to other 4WD 
clubs throughout NSW.

Four wheel drivers learning about environmental issues
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Updates on 2004-05 Projects
The Trust did not fund a new major grants program in  
2005–06. An update on some of the major projects previously 
funded and carrying into the reporting year follows.

Our Environment: It’s a Living 
Thing ($3,500,000)
The first phase of the ‘Our Environment: It’s a Living Thing’ 
community education program (from 2001 to 2004) has been 
extremely successful. It created a brand that is instantly 
recognisable and is used throughout government to reflect 
sustainable living, and has worked well at promoting resource 
and biodiversity conservation, business sustainability and 
awareness of hazardous chemicals. 

The second phase – a three-year, $3.5 million cycle 
beginning in 2004–05 – was the first major government/non-
government partnership in NSW to conduct an integrated and 
coordinated program to promote sustainable living. A number 
of peak community groups (including the Total Environment 
Centre, the Australian Conservation Foundation, the Nature 
Conservation Council of NSW and the Council of Social 
Service of NSW) are working with the DEC to promote:

actions to create a sustainable society

 resource conservation through waste avoidance, and 
energy and water conservation

 biodiversity conservation in coastal and metropolitan areas

 education and community engagement

 correct use and disposal of hazardous household chemicals

‘buying green’ and sustainable consumption

sustainability policies and practices for organisations.

n

n

n

n

n

n

n

Administered by a steering committee that meets on a 
regular basis, the program avoids duplication by integrating 
the projects and activities of individual partners’ existing 
programs and initiatives. 

All projects (each of which has its own working group) are 
delivering results. For most, the early focus was on defining 
target audiences and delivery mechanisms, often through 
surveys and polls, to determine baseline knowledge. 
Extensive research with industry has also been undertaken 
to determine effective methods of bringing about a cultural 
shift in the way corporations make decisions. 

An e-newsletter, Living Sustainably, was created, and two 
issues (December 2005 and May 2006) were sent out to 
over 6,000 recipients. The e-newsletters are also forwarded 
by partners to those on their own databases, resulting in a 
large but highly focused distribution of information.

Environmental Education  
Major Projects

Our Environment: It’s a Living Thing brochures
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Table 7

Round 3 NESB Pesticides Training Program  
Grants Approved in 2005-06

RTO Amount Details

GM Rural Training  $��,�00 Grant for Round �

Farmcare Training  $��,��0 Grant for Round �

NSW Department of Primary Industries  $�0�,��0 Grant for Round �

Total  $169,400

NESB Pesticides Training Program 
($1,500,000)
In 2003, the Trust committed just over $1.5 million for a 
training program in pesticide use for people from a non-
English-speaking background (NESB). The program provides 
training for horticultural workers from Arabic, Chinese, 
Cambodian and Vietnamese backgrounds to help them meet 
the requirements introduced under the NSW Pesticides Act 
1999. The Trust agreed to fund the program because training 
courses in languages other than English are prohibitively 
expensive for these target groups. 

The Act requires all commercial pesticide users to be fully 
trained in the use of pesticides and to keep records of 
their usage. However, a major impediment to achieving 
this objective is the lack of English-language skills among 
horticultural workers. NESB horticultural workers represent 
30% of the agricultural industry in NSW—and 80–90% 
of the market garden sector—most of whom have no 
pesticides training. Without this training the workers and their 
families face many risks, and the potential for fish kills and 
contamination of food, soil and water is increased.

The program initially comprised two components: the training 
of bilingual trainers and subsidies to registered training 
organisations. A grant of $76,000 was awarded to DEC to 
train a pool of bilingual trainers to help registered training 
organisations provide training in community languages, 
and develop pesticides education materials. The trainers 
completed pesticides application training and Certificate IV in 
Assessment and Workplace Training. 

The second component was the allocation of funds to 
subsidise training costs to NESB horticultural workers. 

Round 1 of training was completed in 2004–05, resulting in 
the training of 271 NESB horticultural workers at a total cost 
of $124,000. Round 2 of training was completed in 2005–06, 
at a cost of $128,420. Three registered training organisations 
(RTOs) worked with DEC and bilingual trainers to educate a 
total of 317 NESB horticultural workers. 

The third and final round of the program has now begun, and 
is expected to conclude in September 2007. Under Round 3,  
the Trust approved three new grants totalling $169,400 to 
train NESB horticultural workers in safe pesticide usage. 
RTOs running courses in the target languages receive a 
subsidy of $385 for each person completing initial  
training, and a further $330 for each person completing  
re-accreditation training. 

In April 2005, the Trust approved $414,000 over two years 
as a component of the NESB Pesticides Training Program 
to enable the NSW Department of Primary Industries to 
employ bilingual liaison officers (BILO). The officers provide 
support for horticultural workers from the Arabic, Chinese 
and Cambodian communities to improve their environmental 
practices and increase uptake of the available training. 

The officers have so far contacted over 130 horticultural 
workers, delivered 30 folders to assist chemical 
recordkeeping, and distributed 500 newsletters outlining the 
project and providing information on pesticide-related topics. 
The initial focus was on helping horticultural workers with 
their recordkeeping by using the folders. Workshops were 
also organised on topics such as pesticide management, soil 
and fertiliser management, and integrated pest management.

NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2005-06

Explaining new regulations to Cambodian farmers

Learning about pesticides regulations - Glenorie Sept 2002
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Environmental Education  
2005–06 Grant Programs

The Trust continued its commitment to the education 
program this year. A total of $1 million was offered, made up 
of community ($500,000) and state and local government 
organisations ($500,000) grants. The objectives of this 
program are to:

 attain one or more of the outcomes in the NSW 
Government’s Environmental Education Plan,  
Learning for Sustainability

n

 change behaviours and affect specific environmental 
problems, and

 develop and promote education projects that improve the 
environment.

In 2005–06 the Trust received 173 expressions of interest; this 
was narrowed down to 38 invited applications. A total of 21 
projects were approved (Table 8 and Table 9).

n

n

Table 8

Environmental Education Program Grants Awarded in 2005-06

Community Grants Program
Organisation Title LGA Amount

Dual Sport Motorcycle Riders 
Association Inc

Forest Users Education Project (FUEP) Blue Mountains $��,�00

Early Childhood Australia Seeds for the Future NSW ECEEN Sydney City $��,�00

Sapphire Coast Marine  
Discovery Centre

Mobile Marine Environment Survey Project Bega Valley $�0,���

Holy Family Centre Mt Druitt Land Water and Environmental Education Centre Blacktown $��,���

National Parks Association  
of NSW Inc

The Strom Environmental Education Centre Gosford $��,���

Ocean Watch Australia Ltd Recreational Fishing Line Recovery Project Various $��,���

Rotary Club of Albury Incorporated Rotary Murray-Darling School of Freshwater Research Albury $�0,000

Birds Australia Birds in Backyards Guidelines for Enhancing Urban Bird Habitat Various $��,���

WIRES, NSW Wildlife Information 
and Rescue Service Inc

WIRES Best Practice Workshop Various $��,000

Fuel Cell Institute of Australia Pty Ltd Hydrogen and Fuel Cell Science/Engineering Education Program Various $��,���

Total $508,414

Table 9

Environmental Education Program Grants Awarded in 2005-06 

State and Local Government Grants Program
Organisation Title LGA Amount

Broken Hill City Council Water Management Education Program Broken Hill $��,��0

Coffs Harbour City Council North Coast Regional Botanic Garden Education Officer Coffs Harbour $��,000

Goulburn Mulwaree Council Catchment Caretakers; Community Partners for Sustainable  
Water Cycle

Goulburn $�0,000

��
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Eco Schools Grants
The Eco Schools program integrates environmental 
improvement projects within a school’s curriculum activities, 
thus maximising environmental learning. Following a dip 
in the number of schools applying for funds in 2004–05, 
the value of grants was increased by $1,000 to $2,500 and 
workshops were held for potential applicants. The result 
was overwhelming, with a record 203 schools applying for 
the 60 available grants.

Table 10

Eco Schools Program Grants Awarded in 2005-06

Organisation Project Title LGA

Ambarvale Public School Catch the Rain, Spare The Pain Cabonne

Bilgola Plateau Public School Bilgola Plateau P.S. Commemorative Biodiversity Gardens Pittwater

Blakebrook Public School Water - Our Precious Resource Lismore

Birrong Boy’s High School Birrong Water Watch Auburn

Bowraville Central School Bowra Environment and Gumbaynggirr Seasonal Calendar Nambucca

Broken Hill North Public School TANKS - Tank all water, And, Now we can, Keep all water, Sustainably Broken Hill

Camden South Public School Camden South ‘Flushed With Success’ Project Camden

Cameron Park School Create Wheelchair Accessible Outdoor Learning Centre Newcastle City

Canobolas Rural Technology High School Regeneration and Beautification Around Disabled Access Orange

Casino High School Forest Regeneration - Hotham St. Site Casino

Chrysalis School for Ruldolf Steiner Education Creating an Ecologically Sustainable School Environment Bellingen

The grants allow schools to involve their community and students 
in developing and implementing environmental management 
projects. Eco School initiatives include conservation of natural 
resources, environmental monitoring programs, energy 
management, water management, litter reduction, waste 
minimisation and setting up environment clubs.

Following the success of the mid-2005 applicant workshops, 
the Trust agreed to run them every two years. The next round 
will take place in early 2007.

Environmental Education Program Grants Awarded in 2005-06 Continued

Organisation Title LGA Amount

Manly Council Manly Environmental History Museum and Teaching Laboratory Manly $�0,000

NetWaste A Day In My Life – Building a More Sustainable Lifestyle N/A $��,���

Newcastle City Council Green Schools Green City Newcastle City $��,��0

North Sydney Council Small Businesses for a Sustainable Future North Sydney $��,�00

NSW Department of Education  
and Training

Murder Under the Microscope N/A $�00,000

Powerhouse Museum Development of an EcoLogic Powerpack Kit for Regional  
Community Use

Hastings $�0,000

University of New England Cross-Cultural Education on Traditional Harvesting Practices Coffs Harbour $��,���

Western Sydney Regional 
Organisation of Councils Ltd

EcoSmart Living Pilot Program – Western Sydney N/A $��,000

Total $603,112



Organisation Project Title LGA

Coffs Harbour High School Jetty High / Jetty Dunecare Nursery Coffs Harbour
Cootamundra Public School Muttama Creek Regeneration and Environmental Awareness Cootamundra
Corrimal Primary School Rainforest Eco Learning Garden Wollongong
Dundurrabin Public School ‘Dundurrabin - We Care’ Clarence Valley
Dunoon Public School Leap Into a Frog Habitat - Rainforest and Creek Restoration Lismore
Duri Public School Duri P.S. Forest Microclimate, Green Corridor and Arboretum Tamworth
Epping West Public School Create an Outdoor Learning Space to Rehabilitate a Degraded Area Hornsby
Ferncourt Public School Gung Gung Gawi (Local Aboriginal Language for Frogs Come Back) Marrickville
Garden Suburb Public School Greywater Treatment and Recycling System Lake Macquarie
Glendale East Public School Glendale East Public School Water Management Project Lake Macquarie
Grafton High School Towards a Sustainable Grafton High Clarence Valley
Goodooga Central School A Recycling Program for Both Paper and Food Products Brewarrina
Grays Point Public School ‘The Dharawal Discovery Path’ An Indigenous Cultural Experience Sutherland
Griffith Public School Wiradjuri Wander - A Native Eco System Griffith
Illawarra Christian School Tongarra Cultural Change via Environmental, Educational and Community 

Integration
Shellharbour

Kempsey South Public Jarjum Barrumba Biramayi (Children’s Dreaming Place) Kempsey
Ladysmith Public School Establishing a Lizard Sanctuary Wagga Wagga
Lake Albert Public School Lake Albert Public School Native Sensory Garden Wagga Wagga
Loftus Public Rainwater Tank Initiative Sutherland
Moonbi Public School Horse Paddock to Environmental Area Tamworth
Mullumbimby Adventist School Environmental Education and B.P.M. for the Brunswick River Byron
Mullumbimby High School Rehabilitation of Degraded Riparian Zone for Use as Learnscape Ballina
Murray High School Murray High School Biodiversity Eco-Skills Trail Albury
Northside Montessori School Waste Reduction and Environmental Awareness Program Ku-ring-gai
Our Lady of Victories Greening with Gahnias Newcastle City
Parklea Public School Heritage Vegetable Garden Blacktown
Peel High School Peel High School Wetland Restoration Tamworth
Presbyterian Ladies College Armidale Tread Softly - Reducing our Ecological Footprint Through Recycling Armidale Dumaresq
Pretty Beach Public School Saving Energy Makes Cents! Gosford
Railway Town Public Waterwise and Lead Free Broken Hill
Sarah Redfern High School Environmental Sensory Garden and Outdoor Learning Facility Campbelltown
St Andrews Christian College Wetland Habitat and Outdoor Education Facility Clarence Valley
St Clare’s High School Aboriginal Bush Tucker Garden Greater Taree
St James’ Primary Muswellbrook W-E-P (Water - Energy - Paper- Waste Minimisation) Muswellbrook
St Joseph’s Primary School St Joseph’s - Looking Forward to a Sustainable Future Clarence Valley
St Mary’s High School Gateshead St Mary’s Sustainable Environmental Project Lake Macquarie
St Pauls Catholic College Green Corridor Holroyd
St Therese’s Community Primary School Us Little Fellas Can Make a Difference Central Darling
Sylvania High School Rehabilitation of a Degraded Embankment Adjoining a Bushcare Site Sutherland
Tamworth West Public School The Environment Learning Area - Inside Out Tamworth

Tenterfield High School Tenterfield High School Sustainable Gardening Project Tenterfield

Toongabbie West Public School Heritage Fruit and Nut Mini-Orchard and Indigenous Trail Parramatta
Tuntable Falls Community Primary School Save Our Hill Lismore
Ulladulla Primary Rainforest Garden Shoalhaven
Upper Coopers Creek Public School Biodiversity Gardens Byron
Upper Orara Primary School The Children’s ‘Gap’ Garden Coffs Harbour
Wagga Wagga Christian College Micro-Bats School Awareness and Habitat Creation Program Wagga Wagga
Willyama High School Greening the Curriculum Broken Hill
Yarrawarrah Primary School The Beautification and Rehabilitation of Yarrawarrah Primary School Sutherland

Total 59 Grants at $2,500 each $147,500
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Environmental	Research
Trust-funded research is considered prestigious within the 
environmental research community, holding an important middle 
ground among funding agencies and often providing leverage for 
further funds from government and the private sector. This was the 
finding of an independent study of the Trust’s environmental research 
program, which continued successfully throughout 2005–06.

Outcomes Achieved

Independent Review of the 
Environmental Research Program
In late 2005 the Trust contracted the Australian Academy of 
Science to undertake an evaluation of its research grants 
program. The evaluation had three aims, to:

 help set the future direction of the Environmental Trust’s 
funding program

 understand how and whether the funded projects  
have resulted in an improvement to the environment  
of NSW, and

 identify and understand the variety of projects and their 
reach into the wider community. 

In order to gain the broadest possible view, the review team 
examined 20 successful applicants and another 20 applicants 
who had passed the expression of interest stage but had 
failed at the full application stage. Several interesting points 
emerged from the applicant interviews:

 The Environmental Trust holds an important ‘middle 
ground’ among the funding agencies, with other 
agencies offering funds for ‘very basic’ work at one end 
of the spectrum and ‘applied research’ at the other.

n

n

n

n

n  C A S E  S T u Dy

Developing a Pilot for Sustainability 
Reporting for Organisations
Integrated Sustainability Analysis (ISA) is a multi-disciplinary 
research team at the University of Sydney investigating 
broad sustainability issues. With a $249,969 Trust grant, and 
based on their own existing reporting tool, they developed 
a system organisations can use to carry out comprehensive 
Triple Bottom Line (TBL) analysis. TBL is a move away from 
purely economic reporting to a more wide-ranging analysis of 
economic, social and environmental accountability. 

The team used an action research approach, gaining the 
input of a number of partners including government and non-
government organisations. They held three workshops to 
seek input from the partners about the important issues in 
sustainability reporting. With their feedback they developed 
a package comprising a software tool, an online training 
program and support material. The software is flexible and 
easy to use, and enables organisations to carry out their own 
TBL analyses with reliable results.

The enthusiasm with which the project partners participated 
in the action research, generously giving their time and 
feedback, clearly demonstrates that this project was much 
needed. Plans are underway to develop more specialised 
versions of the software to suit specific organisations.

 The Trust’s grants were considered ‘prestigious in the 
research community’, and receiving Trust funds often 
allowed applicants to leverage further industry funds.

 The evaluation stated that ‘Without exception the Trust’s 
research projects yielded a diverse range of important 
benefits to NSW’, with national and international 
benefits drawn from all levels of work, from on-ground 
applications to policy making. Further, many of these 
benefits are transferable to other parts of Australia, 
providing leadership and strategic direction in the fields 
of research.

 The review team concluded that the Trust’s research 
projects were ‘exceptional’ and that ‘the high degree 
of collaborative, multidisciplinary and multi-institutional 
approaches to the research is to be commended and is 
a credit to the Trust’.

One of the evaluation’s recommendations concerned 
the transfer of results and knowledge gained in projects 
to end users and the community. The Trust took on 
this comment, and has increased – and will continue 
to increase – its commitment to the dissemination of 
knowledge. The Trust has also offered a Research Seeding 
Grants Program in 2006.

The following case studies provide examples of two research 
projects completed in 2005–06.

n

n

n
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Environmental Research  
Major Projects

�0��

Updates on 2004-05 Projects
As noted previously, the Trust did not fund a new major grants 
program in 2005-06. The following is an update of the Trust’s 
major grant awarded in 2004–05:

From Science to Practice:  
R&D for Implementing  
Native Vegetation Policy in  
NSW ($4,300,000)

CSIRO Sustainable Ecosystems

Sustainable native vegetation management is a priority 
environmental issue for NSW, and implementing it requires 
sound science. The goal of this project was to provide 
high quality science for native vegetation management, 
especially in relation to initiatives to sustain biodiversity 
through property vegetation plans. The project investigated 
landscape restoration plans, regeneration strategies for native 
vegetation, vegetation condition, and pest management in 
native vegetation. It also explored ways to restore genetic 
biodiversity and ecological function in rural landscapes.

The project began in 2004–05, when the CSIRO, DEC, 
catchment management authorities, local government 
and universities began a program to provide robust and 
practical science to underpin reforms to native vegetation 
management in NSW. The Trust approved $4.3 million 
over three years to fund the research and development 
that supported the NSW Government’s native vegetation 
reforms, under the guidance of CSIRO’s Sustainable 
Ecosystems.

Workshops were held during 2005–06 to review project 
designs and to discuss integration and engagement 
activities between subprojects. A major national workshop 
on vegetation-condition modelling was convened and a 
draft ‘Science Integration and Stakeholder Engagement 
Plan’ was developed. A number of projects ran pilot studies 
and developed new methodologies and techniques prior to 
the commencement of fieldwork. All projects began data 
collection, with a number of projects undertaking major 
fieldwork during spring 2005. 

n  C A S E  S T u Dy

The Extent of Acid-producing Sediments 
in Inland NSW Waterways
This project was carried out by the Murray-Darling Freshwater 
Research Centre with the help of a $155,681 Trust grant. 
It surveyed inland wetland sediments for mineral sulfides 
which can potentially be harmful in aquatic ecosystems. 
Sulfidic sediments have been recognised as an issue in 
coastal environments but this is the first study to look at the 
impacts in inland areas. Sulfide sediments are a potential 
problem in these systems, not only because of their direct 
toxicity, but because they can be converted to harmful acids. 
Acidification can result from the drying processes often used 
in management regimes.

The team sampled 81 locations along seven major rivers. 
Testing revealed that about 20% either definitely or probably 
contain sulfidic sediments, and half of these may undergo 
acidification. At each site, they conducted observations and 
tests to build a set of soil profiles. These profiles were then 
compared with the test data for acidity and sulfides, and the 

results used to develop a decision support tool. The support 
tool consists of ten questions that managers can work 
through to help decide whether a site may contain sulfides 
and warrant further investigation prior to any changes in 
management being undertaken.

Soil Core sample



Environmental Research  
2005–06 Grant Programs

The Trust again offered $1 million for environmental research 
in 2005–06. Approximately 60% was allocated to the 
major category of hazardous substances and waste, for 
grants up to $250,000, with the balance allocated for the 
best proposals across three minor categories (biodiversity, 

atmosphere, social and economic research) for grants of 
up to $100,000. The Trust received 125 expressions of 
interest. This initial figure was reduced to a shortlist of 20 
organisations which were invited to apply, 10 of which were 
approved for projects totalling $1.2 million, (Table 11).

�0

Table 11

Environmental Research Grants Awarded in 2005-06

Organisation Project Title Category Amount

Australian Museum Hidden Losses: Identifying Co-extinction of Fauna on Threatened 
Plants

Biodiversity $��,���

CSIRO Energy Technology Chemical and physical characterisation of fine particles in Sydney Atmosphere $��,���

CSIRO Atmospheric Research Aerosol formation in Australia’s native forests Atmosphere $��,���

CSIRO Land and Water Developing soil criteria for beneficial reuse of waste materials Hazardous 
Substances and 
Waste

$���,���

Department of Environment and 
Conservation NSW

Amphipod embryogenesis as a rapid bio-indicator of sediment 
quality

Hazardous 
Substances and 
Waste

$���,000

Macquarie University Sources of the organic fraction of atmospheric fine particles Atmosphere $��,���

University of New England Determining landowners’ willingness to participate in offset markets Social and 
Economic

$��,��0

University of New England Bioavailability and risk from antimony and arsenic contamination Hazardous 
Substances  
and Waste

$�00,000

University of Sydney Symptoms, allergy and personal exposure to Plane Tree bio-aerosols Atmosphere $��,���

University of Technology Sydney Assessment and management of groundwater fauna at 
contaminated sites

Hazardous 
Substances and 
Waste

$���,���

Total $1,195,894

��
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Waste	Programs
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‘Waste’ is one stage in the life cycle of goods and materials, 
beginning with extraction, manufacture and distribution 
and ending with consumption and disposal. The NSW 
Government enacted the Waste Avoidance and Resource 
Recovery Act 2001 to address waste issues, and established 
the Waste Fund to fund waste reduction activities.

Legislative changes in June 2005 saw the abolition of the 
Waste Fund and the allocation of all waste-related programs 
and funding, including $10 million for waste programs, to the 
Trust. The Minister for the Environment approved a ‘blueprint’ 
for spending from 2005–08 that set priorities for key areas. 
The programs now funded by the Trust address a wide range 
of issues listed under the strategy, including household 

chemical collections, illegal-dumping squads, commercial and 
industrial waste programs, government waste reduction and 
procurement, and industry and community waste education. 

The Trust has a Waste Subcommittee that gathers 
key stakeholders to oversee the program, and DEC’s 
Sustainability Programs Division initiates projects in 
partnership with industry, business, local government, 
community groups and schools.

The programs that ran during 2005–06 are listed below, 
followed by brief reports on some of the subprojects.

Program area Funding approved

Coordinated commercial and industrial (C&I) waste reduction $�,��0,000

Local government programs $��0,000

Regional illegal dumping (RID) squads $��0,000

Compliance and enforcement $�,�00,000

Litter enforcement $��0,000

Supporting regional waste programs $�,0��,000

Recycled organics market development $��0,000

Education programs (including schools) $��0,000

Improving waste separation on construction sites $�0,000

Waste research and development grants $��0,000

Waste intelligence and analysis $�00,000

Specific waste streams, including household hazardous waste $�,0�0,000

Materials production and dissemination $���,000

Improved frameworks for managing problem wastes $��0,000

Total $9,930,000

Table 12

Waste Programs in 2005-06
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Regional Illegal Dumping (RID)  
Squads ($360,000)

Two RID squads - the Western Sydney and the Greater 
Southern - operate across member-council boundaries and are 
supported by DEC with Trust funding. The squads have a wide 
brief, from the investigation of illegal dumping and landfilling 
to organising clean-ups, identifying changes and trends in 
illegal dumping, deterrence, and educating the community 
about illegal dumping.

The Western Sydney squad was established in 1999 solely to 
combat illegal dumping. RID members now include Baulkham 
Hills Shire Council and Bankstown, Fairfield, Liverpool, 
Holroyd and Penrith City Councils. This coalition of councils 
ensures that illegal dumping issues are addressed. This was a 
successful year for the squad: its actions resulted in the issue 
of a large number of penalty notices, and around 40% of the 
illegally dumped waste was removed by offenders.

The Greater Southern squad was established in March 2004 
as a collaboration between Shoalhaven, Wingecarribee and 
Eurobodalla councils, the Sydney Catchment Authority and 
DEC’s National Parks and Wildlife Division. The squad has 
identified substantial dumping sites, with investigations 

conducted into the illegal 
dumping of household 
waste, green waste, 
building and construction 
material, asbestos and 
illegal landfill operations.

NSW Sustainability Compacts ($52,980)

This year DEC initiated NSW Sustainability Compacts, with 
three major companies: Hewlett-Packard Australia (HP), 
Sensis Pty Ltd and Insurance Australia Group (IAG). 

The compacts are voluntary negotiated agreements lasting 
between three and five years. Signed at the highest 
level, they are agreements to work together to advance 
environmental practices in the businesses’ operations, 
facilities and supply chain, and to promote environmental 
improvements across business as a whole. 

While the compacts address broad environmental issues, 
they all contain specific waste objectives. The HP Compact, 
for example, commits the company to work with government 
to deliver significant ‘e-waste’ outcomes associated with 
computer ‘take-back’ programs, the recycling of printer 

cartridges and other computer consumables, and waste 
reductions at HP facilities.

Waste projects are equally important in the other compacts, 
with IAG working on waste management programs for their 
preferred smash repairers and builders, and Sensis focusing 
on directory collection and recycling.

Local Government Buy Recycled Alliance 

The Local Government Buy Recycled Alliance (LGBRA) was 
a joint undertaking between the Local Government and 
Shires Associations of NSW and DEC. Based on a successful 
model operating in Victoria, this two-year project encouraged 
and assisted local government with the purchase of products 
containing recycled materials.

By October 2005 there were 61 member councils,  
a combination of both individual and group members.  
The project developed a suite of supporting resources:  
a resource kit containing a model Buy Recycled Purchasing 
Policy and a Memorandum of Understanding; and an 
LGBRA website to support member councils which 
included a database of recycled content products and 
suppliers. Two ‘Buy Recycled’ regional expos were 
delivered, in Bathurst and Wagga Wagga, bringing together 
councils and suppliers of recycled-content products. 

The project was completed in 2005 and has received funding 
for a second stage – delivery of an expanded program for 
councils promoting sustainable procurement – which will run 
from 2006 to 2009.

RID squad poster

Minister for the Environment, Bob Debus with HP CEO Paul Brandling at the Compact signing

‘Buy Recycled’ resource kit



‘Dumping: It’s Dumb’ ($275,390)

A resource kit was produced in response to the difficulties 
many councils face when dealing with illegal dumping around 
multi-unit dwellings (MUD). The kit was based on social 
research and highlighted the need for strategic education 
and an awareness-raising program for MUD residents. The 
‘Dumping: It’s Dumb’ campaign grew from this project, 
and was finalised in 2005 to address awareness gaps 
that highlighted illegal dumping as a growing issue, and 
encouraged positive behaviour change.

The kit is now ready for distribution to councils in 2006–07. 
DEC will host several workshops for council employees 
and provide a council grants program worth $200,000 to 
support regional campaign initiatives for those councils 
with high MUD densities.

Organics Program ($705,077)

The focus of this program is to help in the recovery and 
beneficial use of organic materials recovered from landfill. 
Unfortunately, the rapid improvements in the collection and 
reprocessing of this material in recent years have actually 
made it harder for commercial processors and councils to 
market the end product. Further, the recent drought has 
reduced the amount of material presented for processing. 

This has reduced processors’ revenue stream, and also 
impacted on the nursery and landscaping industries (both 
of which are major markets for recycled organics). DEC 
undertook a number of projects to develop viable and 
sustainable markets for recycled organic products, including:

 The Hawkesbury–Nepean Catchment Management 
Authority conducted trials and set up demonstration 
sites to test recycled organic materials’ effectiveness 
for land rehabilitation. Field days for CMA personnel and 
landholders were held to demonstrate the benefits of 
organic material.

 A trial was conducted with RTA-tested composted mulch 
with a view to including it in RTA specifications. 

 A long-term cost–benefit analysis of recycled-organics 
use in agriculture (in partnership with NSW DPI) was 
carried out. 

n

n

n

 Mine-site remediation trials and roadside infrastructure 
trial sites were established to study the benefits of tree 
plantings using recycled organics.

 A set of regional organics inventories was established 
to encourage aggregation of materials and linkages 
between industry sectors to improve the potential for 
recycling organic materials in regional NSW.

 A cost-benefit calculator was developed allowing 
councils to estimate the economic returns they can 
expect from increasing their use of compost.

 A partnership was established with the NSW 
Golf Course Superintendents Association for the 
establishment of trials at five courses in Sydney. 

Regional and Local Government  
Support ($786,123)

This long-term project involves DEC working to improve 
recycling capacity and practices in regional NSW. A Transfer 
Station Guide was developed to bring together good practice 
in the design and operation of resource recovery facilities, 
as well as issues such as occupational health and safety and 
community engagement.

A network of regional waste groups is supported by 
dedicated DEC staff, who provide advice and hold forums to 
help meet the key outcomes of the NSW Waste Avoidance 
and Resource Recovery Strategy.

This year there were a number of major achievements.  
The Riverina Regional Organisation of Councils 
investigated regional recycling for Griffith, Leeton and 
Narrandera. Market research showed community support 
for kerbside collection, and a feasibility study is now 
under way. The councils covering the Camden Haven and 
Hastings River have worked with the oyster industry to 
replace bitumen-coated oyster sticks with recycled plastic 
sticks. A joint recycling and domestic waste contract 
with the Blayney, Cabonne, Forbes, Orange and Parkes 
councils resulted in an $8 million saving by the councils. 
The Grafton Correctional Centre has implemented a range 
of changes at its facility (including using recycling bins, a 
bokashi bin for food waste, and a mulcher).

Improved Practice Resource Recovery  
Program ($237,222)

This project works with councils to increase sustainability 
through resource recovery and the waste management 
services they provide. In 2005–06 a ‘preferred practices’ 
guide was developed, which provides advice for councils on 
kerbside resource recovery and residual waste collection 
from domestic dwellings.

Also this year, a community education tool that examines 
the benefits of recycling was produced. The calculator 
component of the tool shows how recycling is making 
a difference in NSW. By recycling, NSW households are 
saving the equivalent of 2,654 Olympic-size swimming pools 
of water each year, reducing the state’s annual electricity 
needs by the equivalent of 334,000 houses, and taking the 
equivalent of 55,000 cars off the road.

n

n

n

n
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Cost benefit trial of compost in agriculture: Eggplant Harvest
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A training package for councils on how to create contracts 
for waste and recycling saw 18 council officers attend 
full-day training sessions. Demand for the package was 
overwhelming, with requests from over 90 NSW councils, 
as well as from industry and local government nationally 
and from New Zealand. The package is attractive because it 
is flexibile, comprehensive and allows councils to focus on 
outcomes rather than each council having to develop its own 
principal documents.

Further success was achieved through the Sustainability 
Health Check, a diagnostic tool developed with Local 
Government Managers Australia (LGMA), which helps 
councils determine which aspects of their systems and 
relationships are sustainable and which parts need work. 
The health check includes a resource manual and training 
program and can be used for a snapshot or an in-depth 
analysis. The LGMA will run workshops for council officers on 
implementing the health check in late 2006.

Sustainable Schools ($260,153)

A joint project between DEC and the NSW Department of 
Education and Training (DET), Sustainable Schools aims to 
help schools develop, implement and monitor sustainability 
plans and promote partnerships in environmental education 
across the school system. 

This year there was a focus on the relationship between state 
schools and local government. Schools have indicated they 
value the support of local government, and local government 
sees schools as important players in the community. The 
Local Government and Shires Associations of NSW (LGSA) 
were funded to employ a project officer, develop a website 
and run statewide workshops. Further work was carried 
out with Catholic schools through Catholic Earthcare, a 
committee formed to develop an ecological vision statement 
for the church. This was distributed to each of the 11 Catholic 
dioceses in NSW.

New media were also used to spread the Sustainable Schools 
message. A website, www.sustainableschools.nsw.gov.au,  
was created under DEC’s ‘Our Environment: It’s a Living 
Thing’ program. A competition was run to encourage high 
schools to create a DVD on environmental actions in schools. 
The winning entry (on a student-led anti-litter day) will be 
promoted in schools in 2006–07.

 ‘Who Cares About The Environment?’ Research 
Series ($171,775)

This survey of the NSW community’s environmental 
knowledge, attitudes and behaviour has been conducted 
triennially since 1994. While not specifically waste-focused, 
it closely examines the waste-related issue of sustainability. 
It tracks social indicators relating to environmental protection 
over time, and its findings are used to inform policy, program 
design and evaluation.

In 2005–06 a formal evaluation of the ‘Who Cares?’ series was 
conducted, involving wide stakeholder consultation. The findings 
indicate that the research series is ‘a remarkably effective and 
impactful’ program, and ‘a flagship product for the evidence-
based approach to dealing with environmental problems’.

The fifth and most recent ‘Who Cares?’ survey was 
conducted in May and June 2006, with a larger sample size 
than in previous surveys to enable greater regional analysis. 
Focus groups were conducted to explore specific issues in 
more depth, particularly conceptions of ‘environment’ and 
‘sustainability’, and the motivations, triggers and barriers to 
adopting environmentally friendly behaviour. Results of the 
survey will be available in 2006-07.

Household Chemical Cleanout ($1,492,435)

Household Chemical Cleanout provides a collection system 
for unwanted household chemicals to keep them out of 
stormwater, sewerage systems and landfill. It operates in 
Sydney, the Illawarra and Hunter, and consists of temporary 
sites (usually council-owned) where householders can drop 
off materials. Contractors remove the materials for recycling 
and disposal. The majority of materials collected are paints, 
oils, gas bottles and batteries. 

‘Cleanout’ has run for three years, and continues to have 
good support from community and councils. Since its 
inception in 2003, 164 collections have collected and 
processed 1,453 tonnes of material from around 40,000 
participants. Where possible, chemicals and materials 
were reused and recycled, with stabilisation and disposal 
being a last resort. 

In 2005-06 events were conducted throughout the state, 
often in conjunction with local councils. A total of 108 events, 
attended by over 21,000 participants, resulted in over 731 
tonnes of material safely removed for disposal or recycling.
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NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2005-06

Household Chemical Cleanout leaflet
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Lead	Environmental	
Community	Groups	
Grants	Program

Since the early 1980s the Minister for the Environment 
has provided grants to a number of lead environmental 
community groups (LECGs) to assist them with their 
administrative expenses. The amounts allocated have barely 
changed in more than a decade.

Following changes to the Environmental Trust Act 1998 
(changes which came into effect on 1 July 2005) these grants 
became the responsibility of the Trust. The grants provided in 
2005–06 were provided to the original group of LECGs, and 
the amounts provided were increased to reflect the groups’ 
greater administration costs.

Under the Trust’s new LECG grants program, the Trust will 
now provide administrative funding assistance to a wider 
range of lead environmental community groups that value, 
conserve and protect the natural environment through:

 actively involving the community in projects to protect 
and enhance the natural environment

 raising community awareness and understanding of 
environmental issues, and gathering information on 
such issues with a view to bringing about behavioural 
change across the community

 being effective advocates in expressing the 
community’s environmental concerns and being 
actively involved in program and policy development 
initiatives with governments and industry bodies on 
environmental issues.

The Trust approved $300,000 for LECG grants for the 
2006–07 financial year, a figure which recognises the fact 
that many groups have grown considerably, provide a wider 
range of services, and have commensurate administrative 
costs. Groups that meet the LECG criteria will be eligible for 
grants of up to $80,000 per annum, or up to 50% of their 
total eligible administrative costs, whichever is the lowest.

n

n

n

Table 13

Lead Environmental Community Groups Grants Awarded in 2005-06

Organisation Amount

Nature Conservation Council $��,�00

Total Environment Centre $��,��0

Australian Conservation Foundation $��,��0

Foundation for National Parks and Wildlife $��,��0

National Parks Association $��,��0

Total $165,000
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NSW	RiverBank

The NSW Government announced its City and Country 
Environment Restoration Program (CCERP) in November 
2005. NSW RiverBank, at $105 million over 5 years, is the 
largest single subprogram within CCERP, and is a cornerstone 
in the NSW Government’s 10-year reform of the state’s water 
management system. Under NSW RiverBank, funds are 
made available each year to buy and manage water in order to 
significantly aid the rehabilitation and protection of stressed 
rivers and icon wetlands in NSW. NSW RiverBank’s four 
objectives are to:

 improve the ecosystem function of wetlands and rivers, 
including the habitat for aquatic-dependent biodiversity

 rehabilitate wetland habitat for significant water-
dependent biota, including floodplain eucalypts, 
waterbirds, frogs, reptiles and fish

 contribute to meeting the nation’s international obligations 
with respect to wetlands and migratory birds, and

 improve water-management decisions to reflect an 
understanding of the links between environmental and 
Aboriginal cultural values.

A stand-alone unit has been established within DEC to 
administer NSW RiverBank. The unit is granted funds by 
the Trust on an annual basis, with acquired licences being 
held by the Minister for the Environment. Overall, the 
program is monitored and guided by a Trust subcommittee, 
which is chaired by DEC and has members from relevant 
government agencies, independent experts in inland 
river and floodplain ecology, water market operation and 
environmental water management.

n

n

n

n

NSW RiverBank works within the existing market, buying 
and managing water rights only from willing sellers. Water 
allocations held by NSW RiverBank may be traded, and over 
the initial five years a business model for self-funding of 
operational costs will be investigated.

While $105 million is a large sum of money it is, in fact, 
less than 1% of the total value of all water access licences. 
Because of this, NSW RiverBank purchases have been 
carefully targeted, and the water purchased will be used for 
specific and measurable purposes. The initial areas identified 
to benefit from NSW RiverBank are the Macquarie Marshes, 
the Gwydir wetlands, the Lowbidgee wetlands, the mid-
Lachlan wetlands and the Narran Lakes.

Following a number of early approaches from water licence 
holders and agents, two licences were purchased in  
2005–06 and a deposit placed on a third. 

Water Source Licence Amount

Lachlan Valley One general security water access licence of �,��0 unit shares. $�,���,�00

Macquarie Valley One general security water access licence of �,��� unit shares. $�,���,�00

Macquarie Valley Deposit on one general security water access licence of �,��� unit shares. $���,��0

Total $6,182,060

Macquarie River and rail bridge at Wellington

Table 14

NSW RiverBank Licences Purchased in 2005-06
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Dissemination

The Dissemination program began in 2004–05 as a trial, 
with one officer appointed to assess innovative projects 
and examine current successful grants, then work with 
project proponents to disseminate their findings and develop 
strategies for their wider application. When disseminating 
projects a range of media, such as workshops, brochures, 
conferences, DVDs, media articles and press publications, are 
employed to promote positive environmental outcomes.

The first year of the program was extremely successful, 
with over 25,000 people in NSW benefiting from Trust 
workshops, seminars and publications. Following this 
success the Trust made the program a permanent part of 
its operations, and the value of funds committed this year 
grew to $157,306 on nine new projects.

From 2006–07 onwards, 1.5 permanent staff will be 
dedicated to the task of disseminating the benefits of 
successful Trust-funded grants. 

Dissemination projects engaged in 2005–06 are described below.

Grow Me Instead, A Guide for Gardeners in the 
Greater Sydney District, Nursery and Garden Industry 
NSW and ACT (NGINA); 2003 Education Grant 

The Trust’s ‘Grow Me Instead’ project originally resulted 
in approximately 10,000 booklets 
being produced for gardeners in the 
Sydney Basin to help them replace 
‘garden escapes’ with more suitable 
alternatives. A contract for $5,200 
was let to Nursery and Garden 
Industry NSW and ACT (NGINA) 
to mount the booklet on the front 
cover of the Sydney Metropolitan 
distribution of Gardening Australia, 
a leading Australian gardening 
magazine, to ensure it reached the 
target audience. In November 2005, 

20,000 copies of the magazine—with the booklet featured 
on the cover—were distributed to Sydney-based subscribers 
and retail outlets. In addition, 600 education posters were 
displayed in retail outlets and NGINA gardening centres 
across Sydney.

Eco-OOSH in Action—a Whole-of-centre Approach 
to Sustainable Living, Network of Community 
Activities; 2003 Education Grant

This dissemination project valued at $7,600 trained 148 out-
of-school-hours (OOSH) carers, in 10 regional workshops, in 
the use of a booklet containing guidelines and best practice 
options for running centres according to environmentally 

sound principles, and helping children to enjoy and interact 
with the natural world.

The workshops were positively evaluated by participants, 
with many of the carers aware of the booklet but not having 
the confidence to pick it up and use it in their centre. One 
of the exceptional outcomes of this dissemination program 
is that one OOSH centre conducted an extensive program 
during school holidays with a focus on the booklet.

Greek Community Environmental Education 
Workshops, Greek Welfare Centre; 2002 
Education Grant

This 2002 project was originally designed to offer 
information and education to the Greek community on the 
topics of water conservation, climate change and energy 
conservation, Australian native plants and animals, and 
pesticides and household chemicals. The first round of 
training worked successfully with some 700 Greek people, 
but ongoing participation declined markedly.

To counter this problem an $8,000 contract was let for 
a series of eight workshops which were held in Sydney, 
the Hunter Valley and the Illawarra region focusing on two 
main topics: green cleaning and climate change. These 
workshops not only communicated the message of why the 
environment is important to the Greek community, but also 
forged better links between DEC, the Greek Welfare Centre 
and the Ethnic Communities Council.

Environmental Trust Case Studies

A series of 35 case studies valued at $13,410 will be 
placed on the Environmental Trust website. This program 
will showcase some of the best projects undertaken by 
grantees across all the annual grants programs.

‘Grow Me Instead’ guide

Greek welfare centre training
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Regional Waste Trailer Roadshow, Northern 
Inland Regional Waste Group (NIRWG); 2004 
Education Grant

As part of its ongoing commitment to community education 
on waste reduction and sustainable living, the Trust funded 
NIRWG to design a trailer and associated waste-education 
materials to take part in ‘waste roadshows’. The trailer was 
designed in the shape of a water tank, with a series of 
complementary posters and displays that can be rotated 
depending on the topic focus.

The NIRWG was awarded a dissemination contract for $27,500 
to undertake the trailer’s regional rollout, to encourage the 
public to come and learn about waste. The roadshow will take 
in 13 councils in the New England North West region, and will 
include 26 half-day school visits and 13 shopping centres or 
other significant public events in late 2006. 

Ecologically Sustainable Development Workshop, 
Local Government and Shires Associations; 2003 
Education Grant

The Trust originally funded a range of workshops and 
the production of a DVD on the subject of ecologically 
sustainable development (ESD). The target audience 
was NSW councils. Almost half the state’s councils 
participated in the workshops, and their evaluations were 
overwhelmingly positive. 

Of those councils that did not attend the training it was 
thought there was not a strong enough driver for them 
to come, so a further series of four workshops will be 
conducted from early 2007, each of which will be tailored to 
an individual region. 

These regional workshops will showcase some of the ESD 
principles that other councils are already implementing. A 
further series of workshops will work with small groups 
of councils over two or three days to look at improving 
their commitment to ESD principles. The final day of the 
workshop will be conducted up to six months after the initial 
workshop to enable the council officers to commit to a 
range of tasks and implement those actions. The total cost 
of this dissemination contract is $29,600.

Environmentally Sensitive 4WD Training, Dubbo 
Four Wheel Drive Club; 2003 Education Grant

The original grant produced a highly successful handbook for 
four-wheel drivers, which not only explained some of the finer 
points of four-wheel driving but also had a strong environmental 
focus. The grant also offered an accredited training course 
covering four-wheel drive and environmental topics. 

The value and commitment shown to the project by the Dubbo 
Four Wheel Drive Club provided an excellent opportunity to 
develop a dissemination project. The club is keen to improve the 
image of four-wheel drivers with respect to the environment.

A comprehensive project was negotiated with TAFE Western 
Institute, the Dubbo Four Wheel Drive Club and 4x4 Australia 
magazine to make this training and booklet available to four-
wheel drivers across NSW. TAFE Western Institute has been 
given $6,000 to update the booklet so it will be suitable to 
be printed and inserted in the 4x4 magazine. The advertising 
and booklet will appear in the October 2006 edition of the 4x4 
Australia (magazine readership approximately 8,000 in NSW). 
The magazine will also include an offer of two training courses 
for four-wheel drivers in regional NSW. 

A contract valued at $29,996 with TAFE Western Institute was 
established to jointly fund two training courses for up to 48 four-
wheel drivers. The course will be conducted over one weekend 
and then one full week. The training courses will be offered in 
late 2006 and early 2007.

Privet Removal Engagement and Outreach 
Strategy, Shoalhaven City Council; 2001 State 
and Local Government Grant

The original project was successful in engaging different 
stakeholders for long-term privet removal. The project 

produced a training package for 
community groups, helping them 
to develop identification skills and 
learn basic plant physiology. It 
also designed support information 
and brochures to enable Landcare 
groups, community members and 
farmers to work on upstream and 
downstream strategies for privet 
removal. 

Shoalhaven City Council will conduct 
a series of four training workshops 
valued at $10,000 from July to 
October 2006 on privet removal and 
management in their local area and 
in neighbouring council areas.

Skills for the Rehabilitation of Disturbed Native 
Plant Communities, Australian Network for Plant 
Conservation (ANPC); 2003 Education Grant

The original grant funded a series of workshops in inland 
NSW for community and government on the revegetation 
of native plant communities. The dissemination program 
has now provided $20,000 to the Australian Network for 
Plant Conservation to run two more training courses in 
the rehabilitation and management of disturbed native 
vegetation, this time in coastal areas of NSW. The 
workshops will be tailored specifically to the region they are 
being held in and will equip attendees with the knowledge 
and skills required to undertake ecological rehabilitation and 
management of disturbed vegetation. Workshops will be 
conducted in October 2006 and March 2007.

NIRWG waste trailer

Privet Control Techniques  
Brochure



��

NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2005-06



��

NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2005-06

Finance

�0

NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2005-06 



NSW Environmental Trust

��

NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2005-06



��

NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2005-06

��

NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2005-06



��

NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2005-06

��

NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2005-06



��

NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2005-06

��

NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2005-06

��

NSW Environmental Trust Annual Report 2005-06

Start of Audited Financial Statements

ENVIRONMENTAL TRuST

Operating Statement 
FOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2006

Notes Actual 
2006 
$’000

Budget 
2006 
$’000

Actual 
2005 
$’000

Expenses excluding losses

Operating expenses

Other operating expenses �(a) �,0�� ��� ���

Grants and subsidies �(b) ��,��� ��,��� �0,���

Total Expenses excluding losses 64,060 63,702 31,550

Less:

Revenue

Investment revenue �(a) �,0�� �,�00 �,��0

Other revenue �(b) ��� � �0�

Total Revenue 3,478 1,102 2,041

NET COST OF SERVICES �� 60,582 62,600 29,509

Government Contributions

Recurrent appropriation � �0,��0 ��,��0 ��,���

Total Government Contributions 30,220 35,220 16,443

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR (30,362) (27,380) (13,066)

ENVIRONMENTAL TRuST

Statement of Changes in Equity 
FOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2006

Notes Actual 
2006 
$’000

Budget 
2006 
$’000

Actual 
2005 
$’000

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY - - -

Surplus / (Deficit) for the Year (�0,���) (��,��0) (��,0��)

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED FOR THE YEAR � (30,362) (27,380) (13,066)

EFFECT OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING  
POLICY AND CORRECTION OF ERRORS

Accumulated Fund (�0,���) (��,��0) (��,0��)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL TRuST

Balance Sheet 
AS AT 30 JuNE 2006

Notes Actual 
2006 
$’000

Budget 
2006 
$’000

Actual 
2005 
$’000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents � �0,��� ��,��� ��,00�

Receivables � ��� �,��� �,���

Total Current Assets 31,819 37,612 36,188

Total Assets 31,819 37,612 36,188

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables � �,��� ��,0�� �,���

Total Current Liabilities 8,234 11,078 6,678

Non-Current Liabilities

Payables � �,�00

Total Non-Current Liabilities - - 4,400

Total Liabilities 8,234 11,078 11,078

Net	Assets 23,585 26,534 25,110

EQUITY

Accumulated funds � ��,��� ��,��� ��,��0

Total Equity 23,585 26,534 25,110

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL TRuST

Cash Flow Statement
FOR THE yEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2006

Notes Actual 
2006 
$’000

Budget 
2006 
$’000

Actual 
2005 
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Grants and subsidies (��,���) (��,���) (��,���)

Other (�,���) (�,0��) (���)

Total Payments (66,903) (63,986) (22,383)

Receipts

Interest received �,��� �,�00 �,���

Other ��� ��� �0�

Total Receipts 3,800 1,353 1,969

Cash Flows from Government

Recurrent appropriation � �0,��0 ��,��0 ��,���

Net Cash Flows from Government 30,220 35,220 16,443

NET CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES �� (32,883) (27,413) (3,971)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH (32,883) (27,413) (3,971)

Opening cash and cash equivalents ��,00� ��,00� ��,���

Cash transferred in as a result of administrative restructuring ��,��� ��,���

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 30,957 36,427 35,003

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL TRuST

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. SuMMARy OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOuNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting Entity

The Environmental Trust, as a reporting entity, comprises the normal operating activities of the Environmental Trust, namely supporting the 
environment.

The Environmental Trust is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective) and it has no cash generating units. The reporting 
entity is consolidated as part of the NSW Total State Sector Accounts.

The Waste Fund was abolished effective � July �00�. All assets and liabilities that were in the Waste Fund were transferred into the 
Environmental Trust Fund effective from this date.

These financial statements have been authorised for issue by the Trust on � November �00�.

(b) Basis of Preparation

The Trust’s financial report is a general purpose financial report which have been prepared in accordance with:

-  applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(AEIFRS));

- the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Regulations; and

-  the Financial Reporting Directions published in the Financial Reporting Code for Budget Dependent General Government Sector Agencies 
issued by the Treasurer.

Financial statement items are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.

Judgements, key assumptions and estimations management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial report.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency.

(c) Statement of Compliance

The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include AEIFRS.

This is the first financial report prepared based on AEIFRS and comparatives for the year ended �0 June �00� have been restated 
accordingly, except as stated below.

(d) Income Recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable.

Income is recognised when the Trust has control of the good or right to receive; it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Trust; and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. All of the Trust’s revenue arises from its operating activities. When the unused 
part of a grant is returned to the Trust, it is recognised as other income. Additional comments regarding the accounting policies for the 
recognition of income are discussed below.

(i) Parliamentary Appropriations and Contributions from Other Bodies 

Parliamentary appropriations and contributions from other bodies (including grants and donations) are generally recognised as income 
when the Trust obtains control over the assets comprising the appropriations/contributions. Control over appropriations and contributions is 
normally obtained upon receipt of cash.

An exception to the above is when appropriations are unspent at year end. In this case, the authority to spend the money lapses and 
generally the unspent amount must be repaid to the Consolidated Fund in the following financial year. As a result unspent appropriations 
are accounted for as liabilities rather than revenue.

(ii) Investment Revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method as set out in AASB ��� Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
measurement.

(e) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where:

-  the amount of GST incurred by the Environmental Trust as a purchaser, that is not recoverable, from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense.

-  receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

(f) Receivables - Year ended 30 June 2006 (refer Note 1(i) for 2004/05 policy)

Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.

These financial assets are recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement 
is at the amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for any impairment of receivables. Short term receivables 
with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

An allowance for impairment of receivables is established where there is objective evidence that the entity will not be able to collect all 
amounts due.
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(g) Payables - Year ended 30 June 2006 (refer Note 1 (i) for 2004/05 policy)

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Trust and other amounts, including interest. Payables are 
recognised initially at fair value, usually based on transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Short-term payables with no stated interest are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

(h) Budgeted amounts

The budgeted amounts are drawn from budgets as formulated at the beginning of the financial year (State Budget) and with any 
adjustments for the effects of additional appropriations under s.��A, s.��, and/or s.�� of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and 
Treasurer’s advances. 

The budgeted amounts in the Operating Statement and the Cash Flow Statement are generally based on amounts disclosed in the NSW 
Budget Papers (as adjusted above). However, in the Balance Sheet, the amounts vary from the Budget papers, as the opening balances 
of the budgeted amounts are based on carried forward actual amounts, ie. per the audited financial statements (rather than carried 
forward estimates).

(i) Financial Instruments accounting policy for 2004/05 comparative period

-  Investment Income 
Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues.

-  Receivables 
Receivables are recognised and carried at cost, based on the original invoice amount less a provision for any uncollectable debts.  
An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off as incurred.

-  Payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Trust and other amounts, including interest. Interest is accrued 
over the period it becomes due.

(j) Assistance provided by other organisations free of charge

The maintenance of the Trust’s accounting records and provision of other administrative services is provided by the Department of 
Environment and Conservation.

2. EXPENSES

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
(a) Other operating expenses:
Auditor’s remuneration-audit of financial report �� ��
Communication costs - �
Minor plant, stores and supplies � -
Information dissemination costs �� ��
Fees and services ��� ���
Travel � ��
Other - �

1,073 651

(b) Grants and subsidies:
Grants provided to federal government �,��� �,���
Grants provided to state and local governments ��,��� ��,���
Grants provided to community/school groups �,��� �,���
Grants provided to Consolidated Fund for initiatives under the 
Forestry Restructuring and Nature Conservation Act 1995

�0,��� �,���

62,987 30,899

3. REVENuES

(a) Investment revenue
Interest on bank account �,0�� �,��0

3,054 1,840

(b) Other revenue
Other ��� �0�

424 201
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4. APPROPRIATIONS

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Recurrent appropriations

Total recurrent draw-downs from Treasury (per Summary of Compliance) �0,��0 ��,���
Less: Liability to Consolidated Fund (per Summary of Compliance) - -
Total 30,220 16,443

Comprising:
Recurrent appropriations (per Operating Statement) �0,��0 ��,���
Total 30,220 16,443

5. PROGRAMS / ACTIVITIES OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL TRuST

The Environmental Trust had only one program in �00�-0�.

Program 1 Support of the Environment

Objectives: 

- To support environmental restoration, research and education.
- To fund the acquisition of land for national parks.

6. CuRRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQuIVALENT

Cash at bank and on hand ��� ��,00�
Cash at T-Corp �0,��� -
Closing Cash or cash equivalents (as per Balance Sheet) 30,957 35,003

For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash includes cash on hand, cash at bank and short 
term deposits. Cash Assets recognised in the Balance Sheet are reconciled to cash at the end of 
the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow Statement as follows:
Closing cash and cash equivalents (as per Cash Flow Statement) 30,957 35,003

7. CuRRENT/NON-CuRRENT ASSETS - RECEIVABLES

Current

Debtors ��� -
Interest receivable ��� ���
GST claimable ��� ���

862 1,185

No provision for doubtful debts has been made as all amounts are considered to be collectable.

8. CuRRENT/NON CuRRENT LIABILITIES - PAyABLES

Current

Creditors �,��� �,���

Accrued expenses - ���

8,234 6,678

Non Current

Creditors - 4,400
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9. CHANGES IN EQuITy
 Total Equity

2006

$’000

2005

$’000

Accumulated Funds

Balance at the beginning of the financial year ��,��0 ��,���

AASB ��� first time adoption - -

Re-instated opening balance ��,��0 ��,���

Changes in equity - transactions with owners as owners

Increase/(decrease) in net assets from equity transfers ��,��� -

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (�0,���) (��,0��)

Balance at the end of the financial year 23,585 25,110

The assets, liabilities and functions of the Waste Fund were assumed by the Trust on � July �00� when the Fund was abolished following the 
passage of the Brigalow and Nandewar Community Conservation Area Act, 2005. On the date of transfer, the Trust’s assets increased by $��.��� 
million and liabilities increased by $��,000. The change in equity was a net increase of $��.��� million.

10. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITuRE
(a) Capital Commitments

There were no capital commitments as at �0 June �00� (�00� – nil).

(b) Operating expenditure commitments

The Fund’s commitments totalling approximately $��.� million (�00� – $��.� million) for the 
funding of Trust’s environmental initiatives are proposed to be financed from future funding 
provided by the NSW Government. The commitments are as follows:

Not later than one year

State and Local Government Grants �,��0 �,���

Community Grants and Other �,��� �,���

11,087 10,040

Later than one year but not later than five years

State and Local Government Grants �,��� �,���

Community Grants and Other ��� ���

1,517 7,228

12,604 17,268

11. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There were no contingent liabilities as at �0 June �00�.

12. BuDGET REVIEW

(a) Net Cost of Services

The actual net cost of services was $�0.� million or �% under budget. This was mainly due to higher than anticipated investment revenue.

(b) Assets and Liabilities

Net Assets were lower than budget by $�.�million mainly due to a reduction in payables not factored into Budget Papers which were prepared 
much earlier.

(c) Cash Flows

The decrease in cash holdings was $�.�million higher than budgeted due to reduction in payables not factored into Budget Papers which were 
prepared much earlier.
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13. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO NET COST 
OF SERVICES 
 

2006

$’000

2005

$’000
Net cash used on operating activities (32,883) (3,971)
Decrease/(increase) in creditors �,��� (�,�0�)
Employee entitlements - ��
(Increase)/decrease in receivables (���) ���
Cash Flows from Government appropriations (�0,��0) (��,���)
Total Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities (60,852) (29,509)

14. FINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS

The Environmental Trust’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the Trust’s 
operations or are required to finance the Trust’s operations. The Trust does not enter into or trade financial instruments for speculative purposes. 
The Trust does not use financial derivatives. Classes of instruments are recorded at cost and are carried at net fair value.

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within the Treasury Banking System. Interest is earned on daily bank balances at the monthly 
average NSW Treasury Corporation (TCorp) �� am unofficial cash rate adjusted for a management fee to Treasury. The deposits at balance date 
were earning an interest rate of �.��% while over the period the average interest rate was �.��%.

(b) Hour-glass Investment Facilities

The Trust has funds in TCorp’s Hour-Glass Investment facilities. The Trust’s Investment is represented by a number of units in managed 
investment within the facilities. Each facility has different investment horizons and comprises a mix of asset classes appropriate to the 
investment horizon. Tcorp appoints and monitors fund managers and establishes and monitors the application of appropriate investment 
guidelines. All funds are held in the Cash Facility.

(c) Receivables

All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at balance date. Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts, 
which are known to be uncollectable, are written off. An allowance for impairment is raised when there is objective evidence that the entity 
will not be able to collect all amounts due. The credit risk is the carrying amount (net of any allowance for impairment). The carrying amount 
approximates net fair value. Sales are made on �0 days terms. All lease revenue falls due immediately after the issue of the customer invoice 
except where the lease rent schedule conditions stipulate otherwise.

(d) Bank overdraft

The Environmental Trust does not have any bank overdraft facility.

(e) Trade creditors and accruals

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced. Amounts owing to 
suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in Treasurer’s Direction ���.0�. If trade terms are not specified, 
payment is made no later than the end of the month following the month in which an invoice or a statement is received. Treasurer’s Direction 
���.0� allows the Minister to award interest for late payment. 

No interest payments were awarded during the year.

15.  THE FINANCIAL IMPACT OF ADOPTING AuSTRALIAN EQuIVALENTS TO 
 INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (AEIFRS)

The Environment Trust has applied the AEIFRS for the first time in the �00�/0� financial report.

The Environmental Trust has determined that there is no impact arising from the introduction of AEIFRS with the exception of the following:

Grant recognition for not-for profit entities 

The Environment Trust, as a not-for-profit entity, has applied the requirements in AASB �00� Contributions regarding contribution of assets 
(including grants) and forgiveness of liabilities.There are no differences in the recognition requirements between the new AASB �00� and 
the previous AASB �00�. However, the new AASB �00� may be amended by proposals in Exposure Draft ED ��� Financial Reporting by Local 
Governments and ED ��� Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (including Taxes and Transfers). If the ED ��� and the ED ��� approach is 
applied, revenue and/or expense recognition will not occur until either the Trust supplies the related goods and services (where grants are in-
substance agreements for the provision of goods and services) or until conditions are satisfied. ED ��� and ED ��� may therefore delay revenue 
and/or expense recognition compared with AASB �00�, where grants are recognised when controlled. However, at this stage, the timing and 
dollar impact of these amendments is uncertain.

16. EARLy ADOPTION OF STANDARDS

At reporting date a number of Australian Accounting Standards have been issued by the AASB but are not yet operative. These have not been 
early adopted by the Trust. These standards have been assessed for their possible impact on the financial report, if any, in the period of their 
initial application. The assessment concluded that there wil be no material impact.

17. AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS

There are no known events that would impact on the state of the affairs of the Trust or have a material impact on the financial report.
End of Audited Financial Statements
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The Trust consists of three parts: the Trust itself, its 
committees and support staff within the Department of 
Environment and Conservation NSW.

The Trust funds the costs incurred in administering the Trust’s 
programs, including staff salaries. The DEC also provides all 
the support services for the Trust, such as finance, human 
resources and information technology. 

Day-to-day management is the responsibility of the 
Environmental Funding Programs Section within the DEC’s 
Sustainability Programs Division. The major tasks are:

 promoting and managing the Trust’s grants programs;

 coordinating assessments by the Trust’s technical 
committees;

n

n

 servicing Trust meetings, technical committees and 
subcommittees to facilitate good decision-making;

negotiating grants and agreements and paying grants;

monitoring and acquitting funded projects;

 disseminating and promoting successful Trust funded 
projects;

 managing the Emergency Pollution Clean-up program; and

 reviewing and evaluating the Trust’s programs and 
procedures.

n

n

n

n

n

n

Appendices

��

Indicators of activity in administering the Trust

2004/05 2005/06

Total expenditure on environmental initiatives � $��.� million $�� million

No. of grant programs running �� ��

No. of current major projects �0 ��

No. of new grant projects approved and started ��� ���

No. of applications/expressions of interest processed ��� ���

No. of grant payments processed ��� ���

No. of emergency pollution clean-ups funded �� ��

Notes:

1. Does not include spending on forestry restructuring under FRANC Act.

The Environmental Trust, under Section 15 (5) of the Act, waived the condition requiring a grant to be expended within three 
years after it is made for the following grants:

Department of Environment and Conservation NSW (formerly NPWS) - Woodchips and Wildlife

Department of Primary Industries (formerly NSW Agriculture) - Bioavailability assessment of endocrine disrupters in soil/sediment

Department of Natural Resources (formerly Hacking River Catchment Committee) - Fish ladder construction: Audley Weir

Waverley Council - Rehabilitation of the east coast habitat corridor

Hurstville City Council - “Greenhands” project

Environmental Training and Employment Inc - Grafton dry rainforest remnant restoration and rehabilitation

n

n

n

n

n

n

Statement of Affairs and Administration of the Trust

Structure and Management  
of the Trust
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Grants Administration
All grants have conditions attached, covering such matters 
as the project timetable, grant payments, progress and 
final project reports, financial reports, project variations and 
other administrative requirements. Except where a project 
is of a short duration or small amount, the Trust pays the 
grants in instalments.

The Trust’s technical committee representatives review project 
progress and final reports. This is a means of keeping the 
Trust progressively informed about the quality of work and the 
outcomes of each project. Where appropriate, a copy of the 
final report is placed in the DEC Library.

Organisational Performance
Trust administration staff work wholly within the 
administration of the DEC, and are therefore part of 
organisational performance programs of the DEC. These 
include occupational health and safety, ethnic affairs priorities, 
Aboriginal affairs priorities, action plan for women, equal 
employment opportunity and disability plan. Environmental 
impact reduction programs that include waste reduction and 
purchasing, resource recovery, and recycled material are also 
included. Further information on these issues can be found in 
the DEC’s Annual Report 2005–06. 

Assets 
The Trust does not have any physical assets that require risk 
management or associated insurance activities, as it utilises 
the resources of the DEC. 

Risk Management
The Environmental Trust’s risk management includes 
independent grant assessment processes, formal 
authorisation and payment procedures under explicit 
delegated authority and written grant agreements with 
grantees. A clause in the grant agreements indemnifies the 
Trust, and there are processes for tracking progress of grants 
and payments of grants, a procedures manual and regular 
audits of procedures. 
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Public Access
Members of the public may obtain further information on the 
Environmental Trust by contacting:

Grants Administrator

PO Box 644 
PARRAMATTA NSW 2124

Telephone: (02) 8837 6093

Information on Trust Grant Programs is also available on the 
Trust’s website at www.environment.nsw.gov.au/envtrust 

Offices
The Trust’s offices are located at:

Level 2 
1 Fitzwilliam Street 
PARRAMATTA NSW 2150

The offices are open from 9.00 am to 5.00 pm,  
Monday to Friday.

Publications
The following publications are available from the Trust:

Guidelines and Grant Application forms for all 2006 programs

Environmental Trust Annual Reports 1992–93 to 2004–05.

Environmental Trust Brochure

550 copies have been produced of the 2005–06 report at an 
external production cost of approximately $21 per copy.

The report is also available at the Trust’s website  
www.environment.nsw.gov.au/envtrust 

Freedom of Information: There was no freedom of 
information request in the 2005–06 financial year.

Documents held by the Trust fall into three categories:

publications;

working files; and

grant applications.

Publications are freely available. The other types of 
documents are available as set out in the Freedom of 
Information Act 1999. Any member of the public who wishes 
to obtain documents under the Freedom of Information (FOI) 
provisions should contact the FOI/Privacy Officer at DEC on 
(02) 9995 6080.

n

n

n
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Membership of the 
Environmental Trust  
and Committees

Members of the Environmental Trust and Meeting Attendance
Member Position Meetings 

attended by 
member or 

deputy

Meetings 
eligible to 

attend

Hon. Bob Debus MP (Chairperson) Minister for the Environment (statutory appointment) � �

Mr John Pierce Secretary of NSW Treasury (statutory appointment) 

Permanent Deputy: 
Ms Lindsey Williams

Deputy 

Deputy 

Director, Natural Resources and Environment Branch, NSW Treasury 

Mr Minh Nguyen, A/Principal Financial Analyst, Natural Resources and 
Environment Branch, NSW Treasury

Mr Richard Steven, Principal Financial Analyst, Natural Resources and 
Environment Branch, NSW Treasury

�

�

�

�

Ms Lisa Corbyn (Secretary) Director General, DEC (statutory appointment) � �

Mr Rob Pallin Representing the Nature Conservation Council of NSW � �

Cr Genia McCaffery Representing the Local Government Association and Shires Association � �

As defined in Section 6 of the Environmental Trust Act 1998, 
the Trust consists of five members. They are:

Minister for the Environment (as Chairperson)

Secretary of NSW Treasury

 Director General of the Department of Environment and 
Conservation NSW

 a person appointed by the Minister from a panel of three 
nominated by the Nature Conservation Council (NCC) 

 a person appointed by the Minister from a panel of 
three nominated by the Local Government Association 
of NSW and Shires Association of NSW.

The Trust met five times in 2005–06.

n

n

n

n

n
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Waste Subcommittee 
Ms	Lisa	Corbyn	(Chairperson)

Director General DEC and Trust Secretary

Dr	Tony	Wilkins

President of the Waste Management Association of Australia 
NSW (industry representative)

Professor	Don	White

Nature Conservation Council of NSW (environmental 
community representative)

Mr	Robert	Verhey

Strategy Manager, Environment (representative of the Local 
Government and Shires Associations of NSW

Mr	Tim	Rogers

Executive Director Sustainability Programs, Department of 
Environment and Conservation NSW (DEC)

Mr	Simon	Smith

Deputy Director General Environment Protection and 
Regulation Division, DEC

NSW RiverBank Subcommittee
Ms	Lisa	Corbyn (Chairperson)

Director General DEC and Trust Secretary

Mr	Simon	Smith (Deputy Chair)

Deputy Director General Environment Protection and 
Regulation Division, DEC

Mr	Richard	Steven

Principal Financial Analyst, NSW Treasury

Ms	Anthea	Kerr

Senior Principal Policy Officer, The Cabinet Office

Mr	David	Harriss

Executive Director Water Management, Department of 
Natural Resources

Mr	Nick	Milham

Director Policy and Legislation Coordination, Department of 
Primary Industries

Professor	Richard	Kingsford

Professor of Environmental Science, University of NSW

Dr	Terry	Hillman

Member of the Independent Sustainable Rivers Audit Group 

Mr	Howard	Jones

Chair Murray Wetlands Working Group

Mr	Mike	Young

Research Chair, Water Economics and Management, 
University of Adelaide (formerly CSIRO Land and Water

Native Vegetation Subcommittee
Ms	Linda	Burney (Chairperson)

Natural Resources Advisory Council and Member for 
Canterbury

Mr	John	Fisher

Acting Director Regional Relations and Education, 
Department of Primary Industries

Mr	Timothy	Ferraro

General Manager, Central West Catchment Management 
Authority

Mr	Paul	Hucker

Principal Financial Analyst, NSW Treasury

Mr	Leonard	Banks

Executive Director Science and Information, Department of 
Natural Resources

Mr	Jim	Booth

Executive Director Policy and Science Division, Department 
of Environment and Conservation NSW (DEC)

Mr	Stephen	Griffith

General Manager, Rural Assistance Authority

Mr	Tim	Hughes

Nature Conservation Trust

Mr	Mike	Williams

Nature Conservation Trust

Mr	Peter	Dixon

Manager Environmental Funding Programs, DEC

Marine Parks Subcommittee
Mr	Tim	Rogers (Chairperson)

Executive Director Sustainability Programs, DEC

Mr	Bernard	Carlon

Director Business and Community Programs, DEC

Mr	Andrew	Read

Manager Marine Parks, Department of Primary Industries

Mr	Richard	Steven

Principal Financial Analyst, NSW Treasury

Mr	Michael	Wright

Director Reserves and Wildlife, DEC

Ms	Helen	Muldoon

Executive Director, Marine Parks Authority

Environmental Trust  
Subcommittees
The Trust established four subcommittees under S9(3) of the Act during 2005-06 to assist with the management of the 
Waste Programs and the City and Country Environment Restoration Program. These subcommittees provide input into 
the development of program business plans in consultation with external stakeholders, oversee program governance 
arrangements and provide ongoing advice to the Trust. Membership of each subcommittee follows.
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Technical Committee 
Membership
Under Section 9 (1) of the Act, the Trust has established several 
technical committees. Membership of each committee during 
2005-06 is set out below. The Trust did not establish any new 
technical committees in 2005-06.

Restoration and Rehabilitation 
Program 
Mr	Joe	Woodward (Chairperson)

Executive Director Operations, DEC

Mr	Robert Humphries

Manager, Threatened Species Unit, Metro Region, DEC

Ms	Ellen	O’Brien

Principal, Envirostrategy (community representative)

Ms	Jane	Book

Program Coordinator Hunter Councils Inc (local  
government representative)

Mr	Peter	Dixon

President, Australian Association of Bush Regenerators

Mr	John	Searson

General Manager, Murrumbidgee CMA

Ms	Charlotte	Webb

Australian Institute of Landscape Designers and Managers 
(AILDM) (industry representative)

Deputy for 2005 – Ms	Sandra	Morse, AILDM

Environmental Education Program 
Mr	Bernard	Carlon (Chairperson)

Director Business and Community Programs, DEC

Ms	Amy	Foxe

Assistant Manager, Environmental Secretariat, News Limited 
(industry representative)

Dr	Lynn	Webber

Manager, Education and Community Involvement Unit, Parks 
and Wildlife Division, DEC

Deputy for 2005 – Ms	Dianne	McDonald, DEC

Ms	Jane	Smith

Executive Officer, Central Coast Community Environment 
Network (community representative)

Ms	Vanessa	Parkes

Manager Environmental Services, Blacktown City Council (local 
government representative)

Environmental Research Program
Dr	Klaus	Koop	(Chairperson)

Director, Environment and Conservation Science, DEC

Dr	Derek	Van	Dyk

Director Science, Ministry for Science and Medical Research

Dr	Graeme	Batley

Manager, Centre for Advanced Analytical Chemistry (Water 
Quality), CSIRO Energy Technology (industry representative)

Protecting Our Places Program 
Mr	Mick	O’Flynn (Chairperson)

Manager, Environmental Funding Programs, DEC

Mr	John	Lennis

Aboriginal Community Support Officer, Hawkesbury Nepean 
Catchment Management Authority

Mr	Cliff	Daylight

A/ Project Coordinator, Aboriginal Cultural Landscape Planning 
Project, Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Natural 
Resources

Ms	Yvonne	Stewart

Arakwal Aboriginal Corporation (community representative)

Mr	Anthony	Seiver

Senior Policy Advisor, Department of Aboriginal Affairs

Ms	Cleonie	Quayle

Policy Officer, Strategic Policy and Planning, NSW Aboriginal 
Land Council

Ms	Teresa	Gay

Director Aboriginal Heritage Operations, Cultural Heritage 
Division, DEC

Eco Schools Program 

Mr	Geoff	Young (Chairperson)

Manager Community Education, DEC

Mr	Kevin	Butler

Manager Environmental Education, NSW Department of 
Education and Training

Ms	Janelle	Hatherly

Community Education Manager, Royal Botanic Gardens, DEC

Ms	Wendy	Kinsella

Australian Association of Bush Regenerators

Mr	Tony	McArthur

Professional Assistant to Executive Director, Catholic 
Education Commission

Contaminated Land Management 
Program
Mr	Craig	Lamberton	(Chairperson)

Director Specialised Regulation, DEC

Mr	Jeff	Smith

Chief Executive Officer, Environmental Defenders Office 
(community representative)

Mr	Robert	Verhey

Senior Policy Officer, Environment, Local Government and 
Shires Associations of NSW (local government representative)

Dr	Michael	Staff

Director Environmental Health Branch, NSW Health

Ms	Kylie	Lloyd

NSW Manager, Golder and Associates (industry 
representative)



Abbreviations
ALSO Aboriginal Liaison and Support Officer

ASS  acid sulfate soils

BILO bilingual liaison officers 

CCERP City and Country Environment Restoration Program

CMA catchment management authority

DEC  New South Wales Department of Environment and Conservation

DEH  Commonwealth Department of the Environment and Heritage

DET  New South Wales Department of Education and Training

DIPNR New South Wales Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Natural Resources (now DNR)

DNR New South Wales Department of Natural Resources (formerly DIPNR)

DPI  New South Wales Department of Primary Industries

ESD  ecologically sustainable development

LECG lead environmental community groups

LGBRA Local Government Buy Recycled Alliance 

LGMA Local Government Managers Australia 

LGSA Local Government and Shires Associations of NSW

MUD multi-unit dwelling

NCC  Nature Conservation Council

NESB non–English-speaking background

NGINA Nursery and Garden Industry NSW and ACT 

NIRWG Northern Inland Regional Waste Group

POP  Protecting Our Places

RTO  registered training organisation

VOC  volatile organic compound

WWF World Wide Fund for Nature
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Photographs:

Page iii  Overall view of Clarence River. Photo courtesy of Clarence Valley Council Floodplain Service.

Page 2 Kookaburra. Photo courtesy of DEC. Photographer K Stepnell.

Page 4 Superb Parrot. Photo courtesy of DEC. Photographer K Stepnell.

Page 6 Towra Lagoon. Photo courtesy of DEC.

Page 7 Squirrel Glider. Photo courtesy of DEC. Photographer K Stepnell.

Page 7 Windermere - Grassy Box Woodland. Photo courtesy of DEC.

Page 7 Blue Mountains National Park. Photo courtesy of DEC. Photographer J Little.

Page 8 Kings Bush. Photo courtesy of Camden Council.

Page 8 Ranger fi lling car using VR2 equipment. Photo courtesy of DEC. Photographer Roger Bluett.

Page 8 Air Quality Toolkit Workshop. Photo courtesy of DEC.

Page 10 Seed treated prior to growing to increase the germination rate. Photo courtesy Ian Woods, Nari Nari Tribal Council.

Page 10 Little penguin chick. Photo courtesy of DEC. Photographer G Robertson.

Page 11 Front cover of brochure.

Page 11 Colo River Willow Management – access to regions via raft. Photo courtesy Nicole Thomas. Photographer J Cottrell. 

Page 12 People tree planting. Photo courtesy of Kooragang Wetland Rehabilitation Project Administered by Hunter Central Rivers CMA.

Page 12 Hot Spots Fire Project cover. Photo courtesy of Nature Conservation Council of NSW.

Page 13 Sign-posting a Land for Wildlife property. Photo courtesy of the Community Environment Network Inc.

Page 15 Bushcare volunteers at work. Photo courtesy of Nancy Pallin.

Page 15 Inspecting saltbush plantings on Toogimbie. Photo courtesy of Ian Woods, Nari Nari Tribal Council.

Page 17 Students learning about bush tucker. Photo courtesy of Maxine Wakeman.

Page 18 Sample sign that was installed on the site. Photo courtesy of Inverell Reconciliation Group.

Page 21 Gundabooka at Bourke. Photo courtesy of Malcolm Murray. 

Page 21 Arabic brochure.

Page 21 Sustainable camping. Photo courtesy of NSW Caravan & Camping Industry Association.

Page 22 Four wheel drivers learning about environmental issues. Photo courtesy of Malcolm Murray.

Page 22 Manly sustainable tourism.

Page 23 Aboriginal site at Terramungamine. Photo courtesy of Malcolm Murray. 

Page 23 Our Environment: It’s a Living Thing brochures. Photo courtesy of DEC. Photographer Natalie Waterhouse.

Page 24 Learning about pesticides regulations - Glenorie Sept 2002. Photo courtesy of DEC.

Page 24 Explaining new regulations to Cambodian farmers. Photo courtesy of DEC.

Page 25 People walking at Gundabooka. Photo courtesy of Malcolm Murray. 

Page 28 Biogenic emissions apparatus. Photo courtesy of CSIRO Energy Technology.

Page 28 Front cover of brochure.

Page 29 Set up of monitoring site. Photo courtesy of CSIRO.

Page 29 Soil Core sample. Photo courtesy of Gavin Rees, Murray Darling Freshwater Research Centre.

Page 30 Trial plots marked out and planted. Photo courtesy of CSIRO.

Page 31 Member of RID squad. Photo courtesy of Laurie Cafarella, RID Squad.

Page 32 RID squad poster courtesy of DEC.

Page 32 Minister for the Environment, Bob Debus at HP compact signing. Photo courtesy of DEC.

Page 32 Buy Recycled’ resource kit. Photo courtesy of DEC.

Page 33 Cost benefi t trial of compost in agriculture, eggplant harvest. Photo courtesy of DEC.

Page 34 Household chem collect leafl et courtesy of DEC.

Page 35 Community group giving presentation to school children. Photo courtesy of Dora Creek Catchment Group Inc.

Page 36 Macquarie Marshes. Photo courtesy of Sue Jones, MMMC.

Page 36 Macquarie River and rail bridge at Wellington. Photo courtesy of DEC.

Page 37 Dissemination products. Photo courtesy of DEC. Photographer Natalie Waterhouse.

Page 37 Grow me instead guide.

Page 37 Greek welfare centre training. Photo courtesy of DEC.

Page 38 View of waste trailer. Photo courtesy of Northern Rivers Regional Waste (NIRW).

Page 38 Privet Control Techniques Brochure.

Page 40  Banksia. Photo courtesy of DEC.

Page 53 Gundabooka Aboriginal Rock Art – Bourke. Photo courtesy of Malcolm Murray. 

Page 55 Lime Fungi. Photo courtesy of Debra Osgood Bentley. 

Page 56 Bottle Brush. Photo courtesy of DEC. Photographer Natalie Waterhouse.






